
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting 

May 15, 2025 

10:00 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

 
 

Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT)                                Tel: 808 798-0737 
No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Fifth Floor, Honolulu, HI  96813                  
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI  96804 
Email: dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov  
Website: sbrrb.hawaii.gov  

 
             

 
Josh Green, 

M.D. 
Governor 

 
Sylvia Luke 
Lt. Governor 

 
James Kunane 

Tokioka 
DBEDT Director 

 
Dane K. Wicker 
DBEDT Deputy 

Director 
 
 

Members 
 

Jonathan Shick 
Chairperson 

O‘ahu 
 

Mary Albitz 
Vice Chairperson 

Maui 
 

Sanford Morioka 
2nd Vice 

Chairperson 
O‘ahu 

 
James (Kimo) 

Lee 
Hawai’i 

 
Garth Yamanaka 

Hawai’i 
 

Robert Cundiff 
O‘ahu 

 
Tessa Gomes 

 O‘ahu 
 

Nikki Ige 
Kaua‘i 

 
Dr. Jennifer 
Salisbury 

Maui 
 

Mark Ritchie  
for  

Director, DBEDT 
Voting Ex Officio 

 

AGENDA 
Thursday, May 15, 2025  10:00 a.m. 

No. 1 Capitol District Building 
  250 South Hotel Street, Conference Room 436   

Honolulu, HI 96813 
 

As authorized under Act 220, Session Laws of Hawaii 2021, and Section 92-3.7 
Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), the public can participate in the meeting either: 

 
A. By attending the in-person meeting at: 

No. 1 Capitol District Building – 250 South Hotel Street, Conference Room 436, 
Honolulu, HI  96813; or 

 
B. Via Video-audio livestream or via Telephone - to join the Video-audio livestream 

meeting, go to: 
                        

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88400776199?pwd=4wAvlu4jf7kz65ioBZWDXgpG4KlKJ8.1 
 

C. To Join via Telephone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 with 
Meeting ID 883 5814 0200 Passcode 066739 

 
When the Chairperson asks for public testimony during the meeting, you may indicate 
that you want to provide oral testimony by using the raise hand function or, if calling 

in by telephone, entering * and 9 on your phone keypad.  When recognized by the 
Chairperson, you will be unmuted.  If you call in by phone, you can unmute and mute 

yourself by pressing * and 6 on your keypad. 
 

Members of the public may also submit written testimony via e-mail to: 
DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov or mailed to SBRRB, No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 
S. Hotel Street, Room 506, Honolulu, HI  96813, or P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI 96804.  
The Board requests that written testimony be received by Wednesday, May 14, 2025, so it 
may be distributed to Board members prior to the meeting.  Testimony received after that 

time will be distributed to the Board members at the meeting.   
 

Copies of the Board Packet will be available on-line for review at: Agendas & Minutes – 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board (hawaii.gov) and in-person at 250 South Hotel 

Street, Room 506, Honolulu, HI  96813 during regular business hours.  An electronic draft 
of the minutes for this meeting will also be made available at the same location when 

completed. 
 

The Board may go into Executive Session under  
Section 92-5 (a)(4), HRS to Consult with the Board’s Attorney on Questions and Issues 

Concerning the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, Privileges and Liabilities. 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88400776199?pwd=4wAvlu4jf7kz65ioBZWDXgpG4KlKJ8.1
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


Small Business Regulatory Review Board – May 15, 2025 
Page 2 

 
I. Call to Order 

  
II. Approval of April 17, 2025 Meeting Minutes 

 
III. New Business 

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Impact Statement and proposed 
Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 4 Subtitle 6 Chapter 66 
Pesticides, promulgated by Department of Agriculture – Discussion Leader – Nicolle 
Ige 

 
IV. Administrative Matters 

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance 
with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 
1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant to 

Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic 
Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, Economic 
Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to 
improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and business climate, 
including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens 

2. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the Board’s 
Small Business Outreach 

3. Presentations to Industry Associations 
4. Staff’s Small Business Outreach 

V. Legislative Matters 
A. Update, Discussion and Action on the following:  

1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the Small Business Regulatory 
Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and validate 
acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to Government Procedures – 
Establishes the Simplifying Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development 
(SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken, challenges encountered, and 
legislative measures necessary to facilitate, expediate, and coordinate state and 
intergovernmental development permit processes; and appropriates funds 

 
VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, June 19, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., held via Zoom and at 250 South 

Hotel Street – No. 1 Capitol District Building, Conference Room 436, Honolulu, HI  
96813 

 
VII. Adjournment 

 

If you need an auxiliary aid/service or other accommodation due to a disability, contact Jet’aime 
Ariola at 808 798-0737 and jetaime.k.ariola@hawaii.gov as soon as possible, preferably at least 
three (3) working days prior to the meeting.  Requests made as early as possible have a greater 

likelihood of being fulfilled.   
Upon request, this notice is available in alternate/accessible formats. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

II. Approval of April 17, 2025 Meeting Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

    Approved: ______________________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT 
April 17, 2025 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Shick called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m., with a quorum 
present.    

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Ariola 

      Kelcie Nagata 

  

II. APPROVAL of March 20, 2025 MINUTES  
 
Mr. Cundiff motioned to approve the March 20, 2025 meeting minutes as presented.   
Mr. Ritchie seconded the motion, and the remaining Board members agreed.  
 
III. OLD BUSINESS 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and 

Proposed New Rules and Regulations Relating to the Use of Parks and Park 
Facilities Peddlers and Concessionaires, Part VI – Rules and Regulations 
Governing the Operation of Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park, 
promulgated by County of Kauai, Department of Parks and Recreation 
 
Discussion leader Ms. Ige briefly stated that the proposed rules relate to  bids for 
the concessionaires at the Spouting Horn.  Mr. Patrick Porter, Director of  Parks 
and Recreation for the County of Kauai, provided the history of this tourist 
attraction known as the Spouting Horn Park.   
 
Initially, although there were only governing County Codes, it was subsequently 

 recommended that administrative rules be created.  The proposed rules mostly 
 clean up the ordinances as they generally follow the conditions of the Code. 

 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Jonathan Shick, Chair 
 Mary Albitz, Vice Chair 
 Sanford Morioka, 2nd Vice Chair 
 Mark Ritchie 
 Robert Cundiff 
 Nikki Ige 
 James (Kimo) Lee 
 Jennifer Salisbury 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 Garth Yamanaka 
 Tessa Gomes 

 
 
 
 

 



2 

Ms. Ige added that the Board’s agenda packet has a list of the concession 
procedures and fees.  The proposed minimum bid of $3,500 fixed per month fee 
was discussed at length as it was increased from approximately $2,500 - $3,000.  
While the amount of space per square footage appears high, Mr. Porter stated 
that concessionary owners were amenable to the price increase and are longing to 
go back to the concessionary stands. 

Despite the normal, legal process of providing notice of these rules for public 
hearing, Mr. Porter stated that a “handful” of small business vendors are in touch 
with his office and familiar with the proposed rules.  Also stated was that to change 
the upfront bid price of $3,500, the administrative rules would need to be 
amended. 

Mr. Cundiff motioned to send the proposed new rules to the Kauai Mayor for 
adoption.  Second Vice Chair Morioka seconded the motion, and the Board 
members unanimously agreed. 

IV. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance
with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS)

1. Update on the Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant
to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic
Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to
improve Hawaii’s general economic competitiveness and business climate,
including the mitigations of regulatory tax burdens

Mr. Yamanaka was not in attendance but is expected to provide the Board with an
update from the Business Revitalization Taskforce at the next meeting.
Mr. Ritchie attended the last Taskforce meeting and noted that the different PIG’s
(permitted interaction groups) presented their findings, which were well presented
and thoughtful.

2. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications, Inc., regarding the Board’s
Small Business Outreach

The next meeting with Becker Communications and DBEDT staff is scheduled for
April 24th; Chair Shick plans to attend.

3. Presentations to Industry Associations

Ms. Ige recently sat on a small business incubator panel for Common Ground, a Kauai
entity, where she shared information about this Board.



3 

4. Staff’s Small Business Outreach

Ms. Ariola reminded the members that she will be attending the West Oahu
small business panel on April 24th and will report back to the Board at the next
meeting.

V. LEGISLATIVE MATTERS

A. Update on the following:

1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 – Relating to the Small Business Regulatory
Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and
validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board.

The Senate and the House do not agree on the last version of SB 1343
SD1 HD2.

Under Section (d) of the Board’s statute, the House proposed changing
wording of the bill to “(d) A majority of all the members appointed ‘or’
confirmed to serve on the board, to no less than five.”  As the Senate
disagrees, this measure is scheduled for Conference Committee.  While
House conferees were scheduled, Senate conferees have yet to be
scheduled.

2. Governor’s Message 617 Submitted for Consideration and Confirmation to
the Small Business Regulatory Review Board, Gubernatorial Nominee,
Nicolle Ige, for a term to expire June 30, 2028

This measure was confirmed by the State Senate on April 10th.

3. Governor’s Message 513 Submitted for Consideration and Confirmation to
the Small Business Regulatory Review Board, Gubernatorial Nominee,
James Lee, for a term to expire June 30, 2028

This measure was confirmed by the State Senate on April 10th.

4. Governor’s Message 514 Submitted for Consideration and Confirmation to
the Small Business Regulatory Review Board, Gubernatorial Nominee,
Jennifer Salisbury, for a term to expire June 30, 2028

This measure was confirmed by the State Senate on April 10th.

VI. NEXT MEETING – Thursday, May 15, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., via Zoom and in
Conference room 436 at No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Honolulu,
HI 96813.

VII. ADJOURNMENT – Mr. Ritchie motioned to adjourn the meeting and Ms. Ige
seconded the motion; the meeting adjourned at 10:44 a.m.



 
III. New Business 

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Impact Statement and proposed Amendments to 
Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 4 Subtitle 
6 Chapter 66 Pesticides, promulgated by 
Department of Agriculture – Exhibit 1 

 
  



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

  

  

  

  
     

   
 

  

  

 
    

 
  

  

                     
      

 

 
      

             

  
 

  
    

      

   

  
   

   

PRE-PUBLIC HEARING SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 
TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201M-2) 

Date: 

Department or Agency: 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 

Chapter Name: 

Contact Person/Title: 

E-mail: Phone: 

A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach 
a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects involved. 

B. Are the draft rules available for viewing in person and on the Lieutenant Governor’s Website 
pursuant to HRS §92-7? 

Yes No 

If “Yes,” provide details: 

I. Rule Description: 
New Repeal Amendment Compilation 

II. Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? 
Yes No 

(If “No,” no need to submit this form.) 

* “Affect small business” is defined as “any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business . . . that will cause a 
direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion 
of a small business.” HRS §201M-1 

* “Small business” is defined as a “for-profit corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, sole 
proprietorship, or other legal entity that: (1) Is domiciled and authorized to do business in Hawaii; (2) Is independently owned 
and operated; and (3) Employs fewer than one hundred full-time or part- time employees in Hawaii." HRS §201M-1 

III. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the 
statute or ordinance? 

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form. E.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the 
agency thediscretion to consider less restrictive alternatives. HRS §201M-2(d)) 

IV. Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a)) 

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised 09/28/2018 

AriolaJK
Received



       

 
 

    
 

    
  

   

   

  

  

    

  

  
   

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the proposed rules 
and how they may be adversely affected. 

2. In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, and indirect 
costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, labor, professional 
services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with compliance. 

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 

b. Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 

c. Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 

d. Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine (i.e., 

Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 

3. The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies directly affected, 
including the estimated total amount the agency expects to collect from any additionally 
imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys will be used. 

Revised 09/28/2018 



       

  
 

  

 
  

   
  

 

 
 

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 3 

4. The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small business 
such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting requirements, 
less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, performance rather than 
design standards, exemption, or other mitigating techniques. 

5. The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 
implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 

6. Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small 
businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or 
directly benefit from the proposed rules. 

7. How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules. 

a. If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If no, 
why not. 

Revised 09/28/2018 



       

 

  

   
      

    

  
    

 
 

   
 

  
  

 

 

   
   

      

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 4 

8. Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 
mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with an 
explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the proposed rules to 
the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or county law, including the following: 

a. Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

b. The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information about 
the purposes and applicability of the law. 

c. A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

d. A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with the 
costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, or 
county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any additional fees 
from the proposed rule will be used. 

e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or county 
law. 

* * * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT 
Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 

This Statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small- business-impact-statements 

Revised 09/28/2018 

http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small-business-impact-statements
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


APPENDIX A 
 

ENFORCEMENT ACTION AND PENALTY ASSESSMENT SCHEDULE 
 

Section 4-66-66.1 of the  
Hawaii Administrative Rules  

 
Adopted: _________________, 2019 

 
 
 Any person who violates the Act as set forth in 
Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes, or any rule 
promulgated thereunder, shall be subject to the following 
enforcement action and penalty: 
 
(a) Warning Notice - First Violation 
 Any person who violates Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, or any rule issued thereunder, may, at the 
department's discretion, be issued a written warning 
notice citing the specific violation and any necessary 
corrective action to be taken. 
 Any person who subsequently violates Chapter 149A, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes, after receipt of a written 
Warning Notice, or following issuance of a citation for a 
first violation, shall be deemed a subsequent occurrence 
for which increased penalties may apply. 
(b) Administrative Penalties 
 (1) Upon finding of any violation of Chapter 149A, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes, or rule issued thereunder, by a 
person acting in his or her capacity as: 

 (A) A licensee or registrant of any pesticide 
product pursuant to Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes; 
 (B) A certified commercial pesticide 
applicator; 
 (C) A licensee or permittee authorized to 
sell or distribute restricted use pesticides; or 
 (D) A wholesaler, retailer, or other 
distributor of any pesticide product, 

that person may be assessed an administrative penalty of 
not more than [$5,000.00] $10,000.00 per offense. 
 Generally, the penalty to be assessed upon finding 
of violation by persons set forth in paragraph (b)(1)(A)-
(D) above, may include, but is not limited to: 



 1st Occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:  Up to [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:   Up to 6 months; 
 2nd Occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:    Up to [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:   Up to 12 months; 
 3rd or more Occurrences: 
     Monetary penalty    [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:    12 months. 
 (2) Upon finding of any subsequent violation of 
any provision of Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes, 
or any rule issued thereunder, by any person who is a 
certified private pesticide applicator, or any other 
person not included in paragraph (b)(1)(A)–(D) above, 
where the subsequent violation is related to the use of 
pesticides while on property owned or rented by that 
person, or the person's employer, may be assessed an 
administrative penalty of not more than [$1,000.00] 
$5,000.00 per offense.  
 Generally, the penalty to be assessed upon finding 
of violation by persons set forth in paragraph (b)(2) 
above, may include, but is not limited to: 
 1st Subsequent Occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:    Up to [$1,000.00] 
$5,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:   Up to 6 months; 
 2nd Subsequent Occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:    Up to [$1,000.00] 
$5,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:   Up to 12 months; 
 3rd or more Subsequent Occurrences: 
     Monetary penalty:   [$1,000.00] 
$5,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:    18 months. 
 (3) Upon finding of any subsequent violation of 
any provision of Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes, 
or any rule issued thereunder, by any person who is a 
certified private pesticide applicator, or any other 
person not included in paragraph (b)(1)(A)-(D) above, 
where the subsequent violation is related to licensing, 
transport, sale, distribution, or application of a 



pesticide for commercial purposes may be assessed an 
administrative penalty of not more than [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00 per offense. 
 Generally, the penalty to be assessed upon finding 
of violation by persons set forth in paragraph (b)(3) 
above, may include, but is not limited to: 
 1st Subsequent Occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:  Up to  [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:   Up to  12 months; 
 2nd Subsequent Occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:    Up to  [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:   Up to  24 months; 
 3rd or more Subsequent Occurrences: 
     Monetary penalty:    [$5,000.00] 
$10,000.00; 
     Certificate suspension:     36 months. 
 (4) Upon finding of any violation of any provision 
of Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes, or any rule 
issued thereunder, by persons other than those set forth 
in paragraphs (b)(1)(A)-(D), (b)(2), and (b)(3) above, 
may be assessed an administrative penalty, including but 
not limited to: 
 Any occurrence: 
     Monetary penalty:  Up to $500.00; 
     Certificate suspension: Up to 12 months. 
 (5) Factors to be considered by the department in 
determining the appropriate amount of an administrative 
penalty shall include the: 

 (A) Seriousness of the offense; 
 (B) Quantity of offenses; 
 (C) Violation history; 
 (D) Appropriateness of the penalty to the 
size of the business; 
 (E) Effect an administrative penalty may have 
on the business's ability to continue operation; 
 (F) Adverse effects to humans or the 
environment resulting from offense; 
 (G) Corrective action taken and timeliness of 
corrective action; and 
 (H) Administrative penalties assessed against 
similarly situated persons. 



 (6) In addition to monetary penalties, 
administrative enforcement actions may include: 

 (A) Certificate suspension or revocation for 
not more than thirty-six months; 
 (B) License suspension or revocation for not 
more than twelve months; 
 (C) Permit suspension or revocation for not 
more than twelve months; and 

 (7) Seizure, stop-sale, or removal from sale of 
any pesticide or nonchemical pest control device that is 
distributed, sold, offered for sale, transported, or 
delivered for transportation in violation of Chapter 
149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes.    
c. Criminal Penalties 
 (1) Any person who is found to have knowingly 
violated any provision of Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, or any rule issued thereunder, who: 

 (A) Has registered or licensed any pesticide 
product pursuant to Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes; 
 (B) Is a certified commercial pesticide 
applicator; 
 (C) Is licensed or permitted to sell or 
distribute restricted use pesticides; or  
 (D) Is a wholesaler, retailer, or other 
distributor of any pesticide product, 

shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction 
shall be fined not more than [$25,000.00] $35,000.00, or 
imprisoned for not more than one year, or both. 
 The term "knowingly" shall have the same meaning as 
defined in section 702-206(2)(a)-(c), Hawaii Revised 
Statutes (2014). 
 (2) Any person who is found to have knowingly 
violated any provision of Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, or any rule issued thereunder, who: 

 (A) Is a certified private pesticide 
applicator; or, 
 (B) Other person not included in paragraph 
(1) above, 

shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction 
shall be fined not more than [$1,000.00] $5,000.00, or 
imprisoned for not more than one year, or both. 



 The term "knowingly" shall have the same meaning as 
defined in section 702-206(2)(a)-(c), Hawaii Revised 
Statutes (2014).      
 (3) Any person, who, with intent to defraud, uses 
or reveals information relative to formulas of products 
acquired under the authority of section 3, Federal 
Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA), as 
amended, shall be fined not more than $10,000.00, or 
imprisoned for not more than three years, or both. 
 The term "intent to defraud" shall have the same 
meaning as defined in section 708-800, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes (2014). 
 
     (4)  Liabilities.  When construing and enforcing the 
provisions of Chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes, and 
rules promulgated thereunder, the act, omission, or 
failure of any officer, agent, or other person acting for 
or employed by any person, shall in every case be also 
deemed to be the act, omission, or failure of such person 
as well as that of the person employed.  
 (5)  General penalty.  Any person violating any of 
the provisions of chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes 
for which violation a penalty is not otherwise provided, 
or violating any rule of the department of agriculture, 
shall be fined not more than $500.00 per offense. 
[Eff             and comp                ] 
(Auth: HRS §§141-7, 149A-20, 149A-33, 149A-41) 
(Imp:  HRS §§141-7, 149A-20, 149A-33, 149A-41) 
 



66-1 
 

HAWAII ADMINISTRATIVE RULES 
 

TITLE 4 
 

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 
 

SUBTITLE 6 
 

DIVISION OF PLANT INDUSTRY 
  

CHAPTER 66 
 

PESTICIDES 
  

 
§4-66-1 Objectives 
§4-66-2 Definitions 
§4-66-3 Administration, enforcement, and 

penalty 
§4-66-4 Incorporation of 40 CFR part 156 

[(2017)](2023); contents of the 
pesticide label; generally 

§4-66-5 Label; name, brand, or trademark 
§4-66-6 Label; name and address of producer, 

registrant, or person for whom 
produced 

§4-66-7 Label; net weight or measure of 
contents 

§4-66-8 Label; product registration number 
§4-66-9 Label; producing establishment 

registration number 
§4-66-10 Label; ingredient statement; 

generally 
§4-66-11 Label; position of ingredient 

statement 
§4-66-12 Label; names to be used in 

ingredient statement 
§4-66-13 Label; statements of percentages 
§4-66-14 Label; accuracy of stated 

percentages 
§4-66-15 Label; deterioration 
§4-66-16 Label; inert ingredients 
§4-66-17 Label; warnings and precautionary 

statements; generally 



66-2 
 

§4-66-18 Label; required front panel 
statements  

§4-66-19 Label; other required warnings and 
precautionary statements 

§4-66-20 Label; directions for use; generally 
§4-66-21 Label; placement of directions for 

use 
§4-66-22 Label; exceptions to requirement for 

directions for use 
§4-66-23 Label; contents of directions for 

use 
§4-66-24 Label; statement of use 

classification; generally 
§4-66-25 Repealed 
§4-66-26 Label; restricted use classification 
§4-66-27 Label; prominence and legibility 
§4-66-28 Label; language to be used 
§4-66-29 Label; placement 
§4-66-30 Label; false or misleading 

statements 
§4-66-31 Label; final printed form 
§4-66-32 Restricted use pesticides 
§4-66-32.1 Evaluation of pesticide uses 
§4-66-33 Pesticide licensing; exceptions 
§4-66-34 Applications for licensing 

pesticides and for approval of 
nonchemical pest control devices 

§4-66-35 Pesticide licensing; effective date 
§4-66-36 Pesticide licenses; corrections 
§4-66-37 Special local need (SLN) 

registration 
§4-66-38 Special local need; unreasonable 

adverse effects 
§4-66-39 Special local need; label, packaging 

and coloration requirements 
§4-66-40 Special local need; classification 
§4-66-41 Special local need; notification and 

submission of data to the 
Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) 

§4-66-42 Repealed  
§4-66-42.1 Coloration of pesticides 
§4-66-43 Enforcement 
§4-66-44 Notice of enforcement action 



66-3 
 

§4-66-45 Experimental use permits; generally 
§4-66-46 Experimental use permits; 

prohibitions 
§4-66-47 Experimental use permits; exceptions 
§4-66-48 Experimental use permits; provisions 

for issuance 
§4-66-49 Experimental use permits; 

restrictions 
§4-66-50 Experimental use permits; reports  
§4-66-51 Experimental use permits; monitoring 

and revocation 
§4-66-52 Restricted use pesticide dealer and 

dealer representative 
§4-66-53 Dealers' records and reports  
§4-66-54 Storage, display, and sale of 

pesticides 
§4-66-55 Disposal of pesticides and empty 

pesticide containers 
§4-66-56 Certification of applicators 
§4-66-57 General standards for certification 

of applicators  
§4-66-58 Specific standards for certification 

of applicators 
§4-66-59 Repealed 
§4-66-60 Certification procedures; 

certificate renewal
§4-66-61 Conditions on the use of restricted 

use pesticides by non-certified 
applicator 

§4-66-62 Certified pesticide applicator 
recordkeeping 

§4-66-63 Repealed 
§4-66-63.1 Annual Use Permit 
§4-66-64 Conditions and limitations on aerial 

application of restricted use 
pesticides 

§4-66-64.1 Conditions and limitations on 
pesticide application by means other 
than aerial treatment 

§4-66-64.2  Conditions and limitations on 
restricted use pesticide application 
within buffer zones 

§4-66-65 Repealed 
§4-66-66 Fees  



§4-66-1 

66-4 
 

§4-66-66.1 Enforcement action and penalty 
assessment schedule; collection of 
penalties 

§4-66-67 Severability 
 
 

Historical Note:   This chapter is based substantially 
upon Regulation 1 entitled "Pesticide Regulation" of the 
division of plant industry, department of agriculture.   
[Eff 2/22/74; am 12/10/77; R 7/13/81]  
 
 
 §4-66-1 Objectives.  The objectives of these 
rules are to implement the requirements of chapter 149A, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), which provides for the 
registration, licensing, certification, recordkeeping, 
usage, and other activities related to the safe and 
efficacious use of pesticides.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; comp                ] 
(Auth:  HRS §149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-2  Definitions.   As used in this chapter: 
     "Act" means the Hawaii Pesticides Law, chapter 149A, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes. 
     "Adjuvant" means any substance added to a spray tank 
to improve and enhance the performance of the pesticide 
being applied. 
     "Agricultural commodity" means any plant, or plant 
product, or animal or animal product, produced by, but 
not limited to, farmers, ranchers, vineyardists, plant 
propagators, aquaculturists, floriculturists, 
orchardists, foresters, or other comparable persons for 
sale. 
 "Board" means board of agriculture. 
     "Certification" means the authorization granted by 
the state or federal government to a person to use, 
handle, or supervise the use of restricted use 
pesticides. 

"Certification standard" means a requirement for 
certification.  

"Changed use pattern" means a significant change 
from a use pattern approved in connection with the 



§4-66-2 

66-5 
 

registration of a pesticide product.  Examples of 
significant changes include, but are not limited to, 
changes from nonfood to food use, outdoor to indoor use, 
ground to aerial application, terrestrial to aquatic use, 
and nondomestic to domestic use. 

"Chemigation" means applying pesticides through 
irrigation systems.  

"Commercial applicator" or "commercial pesticide 
applicator" means a certified applicator, whether or not 
a private applicator with respect to some uses, who uses 
or supervises the use of any pesticide that is classified 
for restricted use for any purpose or on any property 
other than as provided by the definition of "Private 
pesticide applicator" in section 149A-2, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes. 

"Competent" means the state of being able and 
qualified to perform a particular function in pesticide 
application, the degree of competence being directly 
related to the nature of the activity and the associated 
responsibility. 

"Department" means the State of Hawaii, Department 
of Agriculture. 

"Domestic application" means application of a 
pesticide directly to humans or pets, or application of a 
pesticide in, on, or around all structures, vehicles, or 
areas associated with the household or home life, patient
care areas of health related institutions, or areas where 
children spend time, including but not limited to: 

(1)  Gardens, non-commercial greenhouses, yards, 
patios, houses, pleasure marine craft, mobile 
homes, campers and recreational vehicles, non-
commercial campsites, home swimming pools and 
kennels; 

(2)  Articles, objects, devices or surfaces handled 
or contacted by humans or pets in all 
structures, vehicles or areas listed above; 

(3) Patient care areas of nursing homes, mental 
institutions, hospitals, and convalescent 
homes; and 

(4)  Educational, lounging and recreational areas 
of preschools, nurseries and day camps. 

"Drift" or "pesticide spray drift" means the 
movement of pesticide dust or droplets through the air at 
the time of application or soon after, to any site other 



§4-66-2 

66-6 
 

than the area intended. 
"Enclosed space production" or "greenhouse 

production" means production of an agricultural plant 
indoors or in a structure or space that is covered in 
whole or in part by any nonporous covering and that is 
large enough to permit a person to enter. 

"Environment" includes water, air, land, and all 
plants and humans and other animals living therein, and 
the interrelationships that exist among these. 

"EPA" means the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency. 

"FIFRA" means the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, 
and Rodenticide Act, title 7 United States Code (USC) 
sections 136 et seq., as amended. 

"Finished bait" means an end use bait product that 
requires no preparation or mixing. 

"Front panel" means that portion of the label of a 
pesticide product that is ordinarily visible to the 
purchaser under the usual conditions of display for sale. 

"Fungicide" means any substance or mixture of 
substances intended for preventing, destroying, repelling 
or mitigating any fungus, bacterium, or virus.  
Fungicides include: 

(1)  Products intended for use as seed or plant 
treatments to destroy or prevent fungus 
diseases; 

(2)  Products intended for use in disinfecting, 
sanitizing, or sterilizing premises or other 
inanimate objects to prevent or destroy 
organisms that cause diseases of humans or 
other animals; 

(3)  Products for use in reducing bacterial counts 
in water or air; and 

(4)  Products intended for use as wood 
preservatives that prevent rot or decay in 
wood by preventing or destroying organisms 
which cause decay or rot; 

Products not considered fungicides include: 
(1) Products intended for use in preventing or 

destroying any fungus or virus on or in living 
man or other animals and those on or in 
processed food, beverages or pharmaceuticals 
(the term processed foods includes processed 
animal feed and the term pharmaceuticals is 



§4-66-2 

66-7 
 

intended to include cosmetics); and  
(2) Paints that are treated to protect the paint 

itself and bear no claim for preventing or 
destroying fungi after application to any 
surface.  

"Hazard" means a situation where there exists a 
possibility that a given pesticide will cause injury or 
have unreasonable adverse effects on the environment. 

"Head" means the administrative head of the division 
of plant industry, Hawaii department of agriculture, or 
any officer or employee to whom authority has been duly 
delegated. 

"Herbicide" means any substance or mixture of 
substances intended for preventing, destroying, repelling 
or mitigating any weed including any algae or other 
aquatic weed, or any plant parts growing where not 
wanted. 
 "Insecticide" means any substance or mixture of 
substances intended for preventing, destroying, 
repelling, or mitigating any insect.  The term shall not 
include pharmaceutical products approved by the United 
States Food and Drug Administration for use, under 
prescription by a licensed physician on humans or by a 
licensed veterinarian on animals. 

"LC50" means a concentration of substance, expressed 
as parts per million parts of medium, which is lethal to 
fifty per cent of the test population of animals under 
test conditions acceptable for registration under FIFRA. 

"LD50" means a single dermal or oral dose of a 
substance, expressed as milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg) 
of body weight, which is lethal to fifty per cent of the 
test population of animals under test conditions 
acceptable for registration under FIFRA. 

"License" means the process of being allowed to 
register a pesticide product pursuant to provisions of 
chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes. 
 "Licensed sales outlet" or "Dealer" means a 
specified site authorized by annual permit to sell or 
distribute restricted use pesticides pursuant to section 
149A-17, Hawaii Revised Statutes, where restricted use 
pesticides are kept for sale or distribution and where 
records of such sale, distribution, or disposition of 
restricted use pesticides are kept and that meet the 
requirements established in section 4-66-52. 



§4-66-2 

66-8 
 

"Licensed pesticide dealer representative" or 
"pesticide dealer representative" means a person 
authorized to sell restricted use pesticides in a 
permitted sales outlet and who has successfully passed an 
examination required by the head and obtained a permit 
pursuant to section 4-66-52. 

"Licensee" means a person who has been licensed to 
register a product pursuant to the provisions of section 
149A-13, Hawaii Revised Statutes. 

"Mode of action" means the manner that a pesticide 
impacts key biochemical processes responsible for its 
effect. 

"Nematicide" or "Nematocide" means any substance or 
mixture of substances intended for preventing, 
destroying, repelling, or mitigating nematodes inhabiting 
soil, water, plants, or plant parts. 

"Non-target organisms" means those flora and fauna 
(including humans) that are not intended to be 
controlled, injured, killed, or detrimentally affected in 
any way by a pesticide. 

"Permittee" means any applicant to whom a permit has 
been granted. 

"Person" means any individual, firm, corporation, 
association, or partnership or any organized group of 
persons whether incorporated or not. 

"Personal protective equipment" (PPE) means devices 
and apparel that are worn to protect the body from 
contact with pesticides or pesticide residues, including, 
but not limited to, coveralls, chemical-resistant suits, 
chemical-resistant gloves, chemical-resistant footwear, 
respiratory protection devices, chemical resistant 
aprons, chemical-resistant headgear, and protective 
eyewear, as further defined in title 40, Code of Federal 
Regulations section 170.507 [(2018)] (2023). 

"Pesticide" means: 
(1)  Any substance or mixture of substances 

intended for preventing, destroying, 
repelling, or mitigating any pest; and 

(2)  Any substance or mixture of substances 
intended for use as a plant regulator, 
defoliant, or desiccant.   

A product that is not intended to prevent, destroy, 
repel, or mitigate a pest, or to defoliate, desiccate or 
regulate the growth of plants, is not considered to be a 



§4-66-2 

66-9 
 

pesticide.  The following types of products or articles 
are not considered to be pesticides unless a pesticidal 
claim is made on the label or in connection with the sale 
and distribution:  
 (a) Deodorizers, bleaches, and cleaning agents;  
 (b) Products not containing toxicants, intended only 
to attract pests for survey or detection purposes, and 
labeled accordingly; and 
 (c) Products that are intended to exclude pests only 
by providing a physical barrier against pest access, and 
that contain no toxicants, such as certain pruning paints 
to trees. 
 "Private pesticide applicator" or "private 
applicator" means a certified pesticide applicator who 
uses or supervises the use of any pesticide that is 
classified for restricted use for purposes of producing 
any agricultural commodity on property owned or rented by 
the applicator or the applicator's employer or if applied 
without compensation other than trading of personal 
services between producers of agricultural commodities on 
the property of another person. 

"Reasonable" means that which is appropriate, fair 
and sensible for a particular situation as understood by 
a person of average caution under the same or similar 
circumstances. 

"Reentry" means the action of entering an area or 
site where a pesticide has been applied. 

"Rodenticide" means any substance or mixture of 
substances intended for preventing, destroying, 
repelling, or mitigating animals belonging to the Order 
Rodentia of the Class Mammalia such as rats, mice, 
gophers, rabbits, hares, and closely related species. 

"Runoff" means rainfall or snowmelt events that flow 
over land or impervious surfaces, such as paved streets, 
parking lots, and building roof tops, that directly 
enters into lakes, rivers, wetlands, coastal waters, or 
other surface waters, and does not soak into the ground. 

"Surface water" means water upon the surface of the 
earth in bounds created naturally or artificially 
including, but not limited to, lakes, rivers, ponds, 
streams, other watercourses, reservoirs, and coastal 
waters subject to the jurisdiction of the State of 
Hawaii.  Water from natural springs is surface water when 
it exits from the spring onto the earth's surface. 



§4-66-2 

66-10 
 

"Under the direct supervision of a certified 
applicator" means that, unless otherwise prescribed by a 
pesticide's labeling, a pesticide shall be considered to 
be applied under the direct supervision of a certified 
applicator if it is applied by a competent person acting 
under the instructions and control of a certified 
applicator who is immediately able to communicate with 
the non-certified applicator, even though the certified 
applicator is not physically present at the time and 
place the pesticide is applied, and as further defined in 
section 171.201 of title 40, Code of Federal Regulations 
[(2018)] (2023). 

"Unreasonable adverse effects on the environment" 
means any unreasonable risk to humans or the environment, 
taking into account the economic, social, and 
environmental costs and benefits of the use of the 
pesticide.  
 "Use" or "to use a pesticide" means any of the 
following: 

(1) Pre-application activities involving mixing and 
loading the pesticide. 

(2) Applying the pesticide, including, but not 
limited to, supervising the use of a pesticide 
by a non-certified applicator. 

(3) Other pesticide-related activities, including, 
but not limited to, transporting or storing

  pesticide containers that have been opened, 
cleaning equipment, and disposing of excess 
pesticides, spray mix, equipment wash waters, 
pesticide containers, and other pesticide-
containing materials. 

"Use pattern" means the manner in which a pesticide 
is applied and includes the following parameters of 
pesticide application: 

(1)  Target pest; 
(2)  Crop or animals treated;  
(3) Application site; and 
(4) Application technique, rate and frequency.   
[Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
08/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §149A-
33) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33) 

 
 
§4-66-3 Administration, enforcement, and penalty.  



§4-66-5 

66-11 
 

The head may take any action as may be necessary in the 
administration and enforcement of the Act, these rules, 
and the penalty provisions as provided by law.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19;  
comp                 ] 
(Auth:  HRS §149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-4  Incorporation of 40 CFR part 156 [(2017)] 
(2023); contents of the pesticide label; generally.   (a)  
Title 40, part 156, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), 
published by the Office of the Federal Register, as 
amended as of July 1, [2017,](2023), is made a part of 
this chapter subject to the substitutions and amendments 
set forth in sections 4-66-4 to 4-66-31.  “Appendix B, 40 
CFR part 156 [(2017)] (2023)," [, adopted   _             
, is appended at the end of this chapter.] can be found 
at:  https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-
title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-part156.pdf. 
 (b) 40 CFR section 156.10(a)(1) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  The federal term "Act" in 
40 CFR section 156.10(a)(1) [(2017)] (2023) is 
supplemented with the indicated state term, as 
incorporated and amended in this section: 

 "Act" includes the Hawaii Pesticides Law, 
chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; 
am and comp                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-
15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10)
 
 

 §4-66-5  Label; name, brand, or trademark.  40 CFR 
section 156.10(b)(1) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in 
this section.  The federal terms "Administrator" and 
"Registration" in 40 CFR section 156.10(b)(1) [(2017)] 
(2023) are supplemented with the indicated state term, as 
incorporated and amended in this section:  

(1) "Administrator" includes the administrative 
head of the division of plant industry, Hawaii 
department of agriculture, or any officer or 
employee to whom authority has been duly 
delegated. 

(2) "Registration" includes the state term 
"license", which means the process of being 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Underline



§4-66-5 

66-12 
 

allowed to register a pesticide product 
pursuant to the provisions of chapter 149A, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am and comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-14, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10)  

 (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10)  
 

  
 §4-66-6  Label; name and address of producer, 
registrant, or person for whom produced.   40 CFR section 
156.10(c) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in this 
section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
08/23/19; am and comp    ]  (Auth:    HRS 
§§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
 
 
 §4-66-7 Label; net weight or measure of contents.   
40 CFR section 156.10(d) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated 
in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/2006; 
am and comp 08/23/19; am and comp                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
 
 
 §4-66-8  Label; product registration number.  40 
CFR section 156.10(e) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in 
this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
08/23/19; am and comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10)
 
 
§4-66-9  Label; producing establishment registration 
number.  40 CFR section 156.10(f) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am and comp                
   ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR 
§156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
   
 
 §4-66-10 Label; ingredient statement; generally.  
40 CFR section 156.10(g)(1) [(2017)] (2023) is 



§4-66-16 

66-13 
 

incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am and comp             ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:   
HRS §§149A-15, 149-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

 
 

 §4-66-11  Label; position of ingredient statement.  
40 CFR section 156.10(g)(2)(i) to (ii) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp              ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
 
 
 §4-66-12  Label; names to be used in ingredient 
statement.   40 CFR section 156.10(g)(3) [(2017)] (2023) 
is incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp                
]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
   
 
 §4-66-13  Label; statements of percentages.  40 CFR 
section 156.10(g)(4) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in 
this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; am and comp                ]  (Auth:   HRS 
§§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
   
 
 §4-66-14  Label; accuracy of stated percentages.  
40 CFR section 156.10(g)(5) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp              ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10)   
 

 
 §4-66-15  Label; deterioration.  40 CFR section 
156.10(g)(6) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in this 
section.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; am and comp    ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 



§4-66-16 

66-14 
 

 
  
 §4-66-16 Label; inert ingredients.   40 CFR 
section 156.10(g)(7) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in 
this section.  [Eff    7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and 
comp 8/23/19; am and comp                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
 
 §4-66-17 Label; warning and precautionary 
statements; generally.  40 CFR section 156.60 [(2017)] 
(2023) is incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; am 
and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp                
]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.60) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15,149A-33; 40 CFR §156.60) 
 
 
 §4-66-18 Label; required front panel statements.  
40 CFR sections 156.62, 156.64, 156.66, and 156.68 
[(2017)] (2023) are incorporated in this section.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am 
and comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-
33; 40 CFR §§156.60 to 156.68) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §§156.60 to 156.68) 

   
 

 §4-66-19  Label; other required warnings and 
precautionary statements.  40 CFR sections 156.70 and 
156.78 [(2017)] (2023) are incorporated in this section.  
[Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and 
comp    ] (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 
CFR §§156.70, 156.78, 156.80 and 156.85) (Imp:  HRS 
§§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §§156.70, 156.78, 156.80 and 
156.85)
 
 
 §4-66-20  Label; directions for use; generally.   
40 CFR section 156.10(i)(1)(i) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp              ] 
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
   
 



§4-66-26 

66-15 
 

 §4-66-21  Label; placement of directions for use.   
40 CFR section 156.10(i)(1)(ii) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp              ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
 

 
 §4-66-22 Label; exceptions to requirement for 
directions for use.  40 CFR section 156.10(i)(1)(iii)(A) 
to (C) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in this section.  
[Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; 
am and comp   ] (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-
33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR 
§156.10) 
 

 
 §4-66-23  Label; contents of directions for use.  
40 CFR section 156.10(i)(2) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp                
]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

 
 

 §4-66-24  Label; statement of use classification; 
generally.   40 CFR section 156.10(j) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.   The federal term "General 
use" in 40 CFR section 156.10(j) [(2017)] (2023) is 
replaced by the indicated state term, as incorporated and 
amended in this section:  

 "General use" is replaced with the state term 
"nonrestricted".  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp                
]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 
(Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

   
 
 §4-66-25 Repealed.  [R 12/16/06] 
 
 
 §4-66-26  Label; restricted use classification.  40 
CFR section 156.10(j)(2) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated 
in this section.  40 CFR section 156.10(j)(2)(i)(B) 



§4-66-26 

66-16 
 

(2017) is replaced by the indicated paragraph, as 
incorporated and amended in this section:  

 "Directly below this statement on the 
front panel, a summary statement of the terms 
of restriction imposed as a precondition to 
registration shall appear.  If use is 
restricted to certified applicators, the 
following statement is required: "For retail 
sale to and use only by Certified Applicators 
or persons under their direct supervision and 
only for those uses covered by the Certified 
Applicator's certification."  If the head 
determines that other State regulatory 
restrictions shall be imposed for the 
protection of the public, the head may require 
appropriate terms of restriction as a 
condition of licensing."  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10)  (Imp:  HRS §§149A-
15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

 
 

 §4-66-27  Label; prominence and legibility.  40 CFR 
section 156.10(a)(2) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in 
this section.  The federal terms "Act" and "Regulation" 
in 40 CFR section 156.10(a)(2) [(2017)] (2023) are 
supplemented with the indicated state terms, as 
incorporated and amended in this section: 

(1) "Act" includes the Hawaii Pesticides Law, 
chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes. 

(2) "Regulation" includes the state term "rule", 
which refers to title 4, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and 
comp 8/23/19; am and comp                ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR 
§156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR 
§156.10)

 
 

 §4-66-28  Label; language to be used.   40 CFR 
section 156.10(a)(3) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated in 
this section.  The federal term "Agency" in 40 CFR 
section 156.10(a)(3) [(2017)] (2023) is supplemented with 



§4-66-30 

66-17 
 

the indicated state term, as incorporated and amended in 
this section: 

 "Head" means the administrative head of the 
division of plant industry, Hawaii department of 
agriculture, or any officer or employee to whom 
authority has been duly delegated.  [Eff 7/13/81; am 
and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 
40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 
CFR §156.10) 

 
 
 §4-66-29  Label; placement.  40 CFR section 
156.10(a)(4)(i) to (ii) [(2017)] (2023) is incorporated 
in this section.  The federal term "Act" in 40 CFR 
section 156.10(a)(4)(i) to (ii) [(2017)] (2023) is 
supplemented by the indicated state term, as incorporated 
and amended in this section: 

 "Act" includes the Hawaii Pesticides Law, 
chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; 
am and comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-
15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

 
 

 §4-66-30  Label; false or misleading statements.  
 (a)  40 CFR section 156.10(a)(5) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section.  
 (b)  The federal terms "Act" and "Regulation" in 40 
CFR section 156.10(a)(5) [(2017)] (2023) are supplemented 
with the indicated state term, as incorporated and 
amended in this section: 

(1) "Act" includes the Hawaii Pesticides Law, 
chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised Statutes, and 
citation to section 149A-2, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes. 

(2) "Regulation" includes the state term "rule", 
which refers to title 4, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules. 

 (c)  The federal term "device" in 40 CFR section 
156.10(a)(5) [(2017)] (2023) is replaced by the indicated 
state term, as incorporated and amended in this section:  

(1) "Device" is replaced with the state term 

Formatted: Underline



§4-66-31 

66-18 
 

"nonchemical pest control device".  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; am and comp                ]  (Auth:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-15, 149A-33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

 
 

 §4-66-31 Label; final printed form.  (a)  40 CFR 
section 156.10(a)(6)(i) to (ii) [(2017)] (2023) is 
incorporated in this section. 
 (b)  The federal terms "Agency" and "Registration" 
in 40 CFR section 156.10(a)(6)(i) to (ii) [(2017)] (2023) 
are supplemented with the indicated state term, as 
incorporated and amended in this section: 

(1) "Agency" includes the state term "head", which 
means the administrative head of the division 
of plant industry, Hawaii department of 
agriculture, or any officer or employee to 
whom authority has been duly delegated. 

(2) "Registration" includes the state term 
"license", which means the process of being 
allowed to register a pesticide product 
pursuant to the provisions of chapter 149A, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes. 

 (c) The federal term "microfilm" in 40 CFR section 
156.10(a)(6)(ii) (2017) is replaced by the indicated 
state term, as incorporated and amended in this section:  

(1) "Microfilm" is replaced with the state term 
"text.PDF or similar format".  [Eff 7/13/81; am 
and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and 
comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-
33; 40 CFR §156.10) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15, 149A-
33; 40 CFR §156.10) 

  
   
 §4-66-32  Restricted use pesticides.  (a)  A 
pesticide or pesticide use classified for restricted use 
under FIFRA shall be classified as a State restricted use 
pesticide. 

(b) Any pesticides or pesticide uses that meet or 
exceed any of the following criteria shall be a 
candidate for State restricted use classification:

(1)  Pesticides in toxicity categories I and II as 



§4-66-32 

66-19 
 

defined in section 4-66-18 (40 CFR sections 
156.62, 156.64, 156.66, and 156.68 [(2017)] 
(2023)); 

(2)  Pesticides or pesticide uses that are 
determined by the head, in consultation with 
the director of the department of health, to 
be a health hazard for one or more reasons 
including, but not limited to, toxicity, body 
storage, oncogenicity, mutagenicity, and 
teratogenicity or other reproductive effects; 

(3)  Pesticides or pesticide uses that can 
reasonably be anticipated to result in 
contamination of groundwater or significant 
reductions in non-target organisms, or 
fatality to members of endangered species; and 

(4)  Pesticides or pesticide uses authorized under 
section 18, the Emergency Exemption provision, 
of FIFRA. 

(c) Any pesticide, pesticide formulation, 
pesticide product, or pesticide use that meets or exceeds 
the criteria set forth in section 4-66-32(b) shall be 
subjected to an internal review process by the department 
prior to being presented to the board for adoption as a 
State restricted use pesticide. 

(d) The head, in consultation with the advisory 
committee, shall determine which pesticides, pesticide 
formulations, pesticide products, or pesticide uses meet 
or exceed the criteria set forth in section 4-66-32(b) 
and shall submit those items for review by the 
department. 

(e) Once the review process under section 4-66-
32(c), or if applicable, an evaluation under section 4-
66-32.1(c), has been completed, the head shall submit a 
list of those pesticides, pesticide formulations, 
pesticide products, and pesticide uses deemed appropriate 
for classification as State restricted use for adoption 
by the board. 

(f) The head may classify a pesticide or pesticide 
use meeting or exceeding the criteria set forth in 
section 4-66-32(b) for nonrestricted use if during the 
department's review process it is determined that 
measures such as packaging, type of formulation, or 
method of application eliminate or reduce hazards 
associated with the pesticide or its use. 



§4-66-32 

66-20 
 

 (g) The board, upon adoption of those pesticides, 
pesticide formulations, pesticide products, or pesticide 
uses recommended for classification as a State restricted 
use pesticide, shall maintain a list of all State 
restricted use pesticides at the department Office of the 
Chairperson.  The list of State restricted use pesticides 
shall also be posted on the department's website.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am 
and comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-33; 7 USC 
§136v (a)-(b), 7 USC §136w-1 (a)–(b)) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-
19, 149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-32.1   Evaluation of pesticides uses.  (a)  
The head may, at any time, evaluate a licensed 
pesticide or pesticide proposed for licensing, to carry 
out the provisions of the Act.  The head shall 
investigate all reported events and information 
received that indicates any pesticide may have caused, 
or is likely to cause, unreasonable adverse effects to 
humans or the environment.  If the head finds from the 
investigation that unreasonable adverse effects to 
humans or the environment have occurred or are likely 
to occur, the pesticide shall be evaluated. 

(b)  The head shall evaluate any pesticide when 
unreasonable adverse effects to humans or the 
environment have been found and documented to a 
reasonable degree of scientific certainty as being 
associated with the use of that pesticide.  
Unreasonable adverse effects to humans or the 
environment shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following circumstances: 

(1)  Public or worker health hazard; 
(2)  Pesticide residues in drinking water are 

present in levels that are equal to or 
exceed twenty per cent of the established 
federal or State health standards or 
advisories; 

(3)  Pesticide residues in food or feed are 
present in levels exceeding the established 
tolerances;  

(4) Fish or wildlife hazard, including hazards 
to endangered species; 



§4-66-32 

66-21 
 

 (5) Toxicity to non-target organisms;  
 (6) Hazardous packaging;

(7) Misbranded as established in sections 4-66-4 
to 4-66-30 (40 CFR part 156 [(2017)(2023)]); 

(8) Other information suggesting unreasonable 
adverse effects on humans or the environment 
associated with the use of a specific 
pesticide; and 

(9)  Discovery that data upon which a license was 
issued are false, misleading, or incomplete. 

(c)  The evaluation of any pesticide shall consist 
of identification of unreasonable adverse effects to 
humans or the environment, including the social, 
economic, and environmental costs of the pesticide, 
identification of the uses of the pesticide, 
identification of the benefits of the pesticide, 
identification of alternatives to the pesticide, 
identification of regulatory controls considered by the 
head in mitigating unreasonable adverse effects on 
humans or the environment, determination by the head as 
to whether the effects on humans or the environment are 
unreasonable, and recommendation by the head for 
regulatory actions.  Evaluation may lead to no change, 
restriction of use, refusal to issue or renew a license, 
requirement of an annual use permit, or cancellation or 
suspension of the license.  The evaluation shall be made 
available to all interested parties to provide them with 
an opportunity to submit additional information, and 
comment on the evaluation.  [Eff and comp 12/16/06; am 
and comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-14, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-33  Pesticide licensing; exceptions.  (a) 
 Any manufacturer, packer, seller, distributor, or 
shipper of a pesticide may apply to license a pesticide. 

(b)  No person may distribute in the State, any 
pesticide that is not licensed with the department, 
except for the following: 

(1)  Pesticides transferred between EPA registered 
establishments operated by the same producer 
for packaging or for use in producing another 
pesticide, provided the pesticides are labeled 
to clearly show the identity and purpose for 

Formatted: Strikethrough



§4-66-33 

66-22 
 

which the pesticides are being transferred; 
(2)  Pesticides distributed under an experimental 

use permit issued by the head; 
(3)  Pesticides transferred for purpose of disposal 

when marked to show the pesticides are for 
disposal only, and accompanied by sufficient 
information to identify products and to ensure 
that product can be handled with minimum 
hazard to humans or the environment; 

(4)  Pesticides intended solely for export when 
prepared or packed according to specifications 
of foreign purchaser; 

(5)  Pesticides being distributed under a FIFRA, 
section 18 emergency exemption; and 

(6) Upon written notice to the head, pesticides 
distributed to research laboratories for the 
purpose of laboratory or enclosed space 
production tests, or limited replicated field 
trials of less than one-fourth acre, to 
determine toxicity or other properties, and 
from which the producer, researcher, or 
applicator or any other person conducting the 
laboratory or enclosed space production tests 
or field trial, does not expect to receive any 
benefit in pest control from its use.  Notice 
shall be provided on forms prescribed by the 
head.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and 
comp 8/23/19; am and comp                ]  
(Auth:  40 CFR §152.30; HRS §§149A-13, 149A-
19, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-13, 149A-19, 
149A-33) 

 
 

 §4-66-34  Applications for licensing pesticides and 
for approval of nonchemical pest control devices.   The 
procedures for licensing pesticides, or approval of 
nonchemical pest control devices as defined in chapter 
460J, Hawaii Revised Statutes, are as follows: 

(1)  Applications shall be filed by the applicant 
or by an agent whom the applicant has 
designated as such by a notarized letter. 

(2)  Applications shall be made on forms prescribed 
by the department and shall contain the 
following information: name and address of the 



§4-66-33 

66-23 
 

applicant and any other person whose name will 
appear on the labeling or in the directions 
for use, name of the pesticide or nonchemical
pest control device as shown on the label, the 
EPA registration number (for pesticides), the 
EPA establishment number, and the signature of 
the applicant or applicant's designated agent. 

(3) Applications shall be submitted no less than 
thirty calendar days prior to the date 
licensing is desired to take effect.  

(4)  Applications shall be accompanied by one copy 
of the final printed label in text.pdf or 
similar format, the EPA stamped "ACCEPTED" 
label, if applicable, and any other printed or 
graphic matter that is required to accompany 
the pesticide or nonchemical pest control 
device when offered for sale or distribution, 
including all claims, directions for use, and 
any other materials specified by the head.   

(5)  If requested by the head, the applicant for a 
pesticide license shall provide the complete 
formula of the pesticide, including active and 
inert ingredients, and a description of tests 
and test results thereof on which claims are 
based, including efficacy, residue, safety, 
and other supporting data that shows the 
pesticide shall perform its intended function 
without causing unreasonable adverse effects 
on humans or the environment. 

(6)  If requested by the head, the applicant for 
nonchemical pest control device approval shall 
provide a description of the principles 
fundamental to the efficacy of the nonchemical 
pest control device, a description of the 
tests conducted according to the procedures 
described below and test results thereof on 
which claims are based, including efficacy, 
reliability, safety, and other supporting data 
that shows the nonchemical pest control device 
will perform its intended function without 
causing unreasonable adverse effects on humans 
or the environment. 

(7)  Each test submitted pursuant to this section 
shall be based on a written protocol that 



§4-66-34 

66-24 
 

clearly indicates the objectives and all the 
methods for the conduct of the test.  The 
protocol shall contain, but not be limited to, 
the following information: 
(A) A descriptive title and statement of the 

purpose of the study; 
(B) The name and address of the sponsor and 

address of the testing facility at which 
the study was conducted; 

(C) Justification for the selection of the 
test organism; 

(D) Where applicable, the number, body weight 
range, sex, source of supply, species, 
strain, substrain and age of the 
organisms tested;  

(E) A description of the experimental design, 
including methods for the control of 
bias; 

(F) Where applicable, a description or 
identification of the diet for the test 
animals or fertilization and irrigation 
schedules for plants used in the test; 

(G) Treatments, such as the test frequency 
and volume for nonchemical pest control 
devices, and the method and frequency of 
administration; 

(H) The type and frequency of data 
collection, and measurements to be made; 

(I) The records to be maintained; 
(J) The date of approval by the sponsor and 

the signature of the test director; and 
(K) A statement of the proposed statistical 

analyses to be used. 
(8) The department may test nonchemical pest 

control devices to determine the reliability, 
efficacy and safety of the nonchemical pest 
control device.  The applicant shall provide 
any nonchemical pest control devices to the 
department for testing upon request. 

(9) The department shall provide the applicant 
with a description of the tests to be 
conducted, and estimated schedule to complete 
the tests. 



§4-66-34 

66-25 
 

(10) The applicant may initiate tests required 
pursuant to (8) above, using qualified testing 
facilities, with the concurrence of the 
department.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp

  12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-13, 
149A-15, 149A-19, 149A-33, 460J-24.5) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-13, 149A-15, 149A-19, 149A-33, 
460J-24.5) 

 
 
 §4-66-35  Pesticide licensing; effective date.  (a)  
Licenses shall become effective on the date issued and, 
unless canceled by the head, shall continue in effect 
through the date of expiration. 
 (b)  Pesticide products are to be licensed for a 
period of three years.  All licenses shall expire on 
December 31 of each third year after license issuance. 

(c)  Provisional licenses may be issued for 
experimental use permits to cover the duration of the 
permit. 

(d)  Any pesticide product licensed under the Act 
shall not require any further licensing by other persons 
provided: 

(1)  The pesticide product is in the manufacturer's 
or registrant's original unbroken container; 

(2)  The claims made in the pesticide product's 
directions for use, use classification, and 
other information contained in the labeling, 
do not differ from those made in conjunction 
with the license currently in effect; and 

(3)  Any change in the labeling or formula of a 
licensed pesticide shall be submitted in 
advance to the head provided: 
(A)  The licensee shall describe the exact 

change and upon request, shall submit 
test results to support any change in 
labeling claims; and 

(B)  After the effective date of any change in 
labeling or formulas, the pesticide shall 
be marketed only under the new label or 
formula.  The head may permit a 
reasonable time for disposition of 
stocks, if in the opinion of the head, 



§4-66-34 

66-26 
 

such disposition does not result in any 
unreasonable adverse effects on humans or 
the environment.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and 
comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-13, 
149A-19, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-13, 
149A-19, 149A-33)

 
 

 §4-66-36  Pesticide licenses; corrections.  (a)  
The head shall require the licensee to make necessary 
changes should the labeling claims of the pesticide be 
unwarranted, or if the pesticide and its labeling or 
other material required to be submitted do not comply 
with the Act or these rules, or when necessary to prevent 
any unreasonable adverse effect on humans or the 
environment. 
 (b) The licensee shall make the necessary 
corrections within thirty calendar days from receipt of 
any correction notice.  If the licensee fails to make the 
necessary corrections within thirty calendar days, the 
head may take any of the following actions, alone or in 
combination with each other: 
 (1)  Refuse to license the pesticide; 
 (2)  Cancel the pesticide license; and 
 (3)  Change the classification of the pesticide. 
 (c)  Should the head determine that an imminent 
hazard exists, the head may suspend the license of any 
pesticide or pesticide use or uses.  The licensee shall 
be notified within twenty four hours of the suspension 
and given the reasons for the action. 

(d)  Should the head find that a pesticide or its 
labeling fails to comply with FIFRA or regulations 
implementing FIFRA, the head shall notify EPA and may 
suggest corrections that would bring the labeling into 
compliance. 

(e) Any licensee aggrieved by a determination of 
the head relative to refusing, canceling, or suspending a 
pesticide license, may request a hearing as provided in 
section 149A-14(d), Hawaii Revised Statutes.  [Eff 
7/13/81 am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
              ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-13, 149A-14, 149A-19, 
149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-13, 149A-14, 149A-19, 149A-33) 
 
 



§4-66-38 

66-27 
 

§4-66-37  Special local need (SLN) registration. 
 (a) The head may register pesticide products for 
special local needs.  All applicants for registration of 
pesticides to meet special local needs shall submit the 
following information: 

(1)  The name and address of the applicant and any 
other person whose name shall appear on the 
labeling or in the directions for use; 

(2) The name of the pesticide product, and if 
application is for an amendment to a federally 
registered product, the EPA registration 
number of that product; 

(3)  A copy of proposed labeling, including all 
claims made for the product; directions for 
use to meet the special local need; the 
complete proposed labeling for a new product, 
or the proposed supplemental labeling for 
registration of an additional use of a 
federally registered product, and the complete 
formula of the product if the application is 
for a new product; and any other information 
specified by the head that is required to be 
reviewed prior to registration under this 
section. 

 (b) The head shall determine whether there is a 
special local need for registration.  Situations the head 
may consider as not involving a special local need may 
include, but are not limited to, use to control a pest 
problem present on a nationwide basis, and use of a 
pesticide product registered by other states on an 
interregional or national basis. 
 (c) The head shall determine whether the claims 
made for the product in the registration application are 
warranted.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; comp                ] (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 
149A-22, l49A-33; 7 USC §136v (c); 40 CFR §§162.152, 
162.153) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC 
§136v (c); 40 CFR §§162.152, 162.153) 
 
 
 §4-66-38 Special local need; unreasonable adverse 
effects.  (a) Under the following circumstances, prior to 
issuing a special local need registration, the head shall 
determine that use of the product for which registration 



§4-66-36 

66-28 
 

is sought would not cause unreasonable adverse effects on 
humans or the environment, when used in accordance with 
labeling directions or widespread and commonly recognized 
practices: 

(1)  For the use of a product that has a 
composition not similar to any federally 
registered product; 

(2)  For the use of a product involving a use 
pattern not similar to any federally 
registered use of the same product, or of a 
product with a similar composition; or 

(3)  For the use of a product for which other uses 
of the same product, or of a product with a 
similar composition, have had federal 
registration denied, disapproved, suspended, 
or canceled by the EPA administrator. 

 (b)  The determination required by subsection (a) 
shall be based on data and criteria consistent with 
federal regulations applicable to the type of product or 
use under consideration.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v (c); 
40 CFR §162.153) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 
7 USC §136v (c); 40 CFR §162.153) 
 
 
 §4-66-39 Special local need; label, packaging and 
coloration requirements.  (a)  The head shall review the 
proposed labeling submitted with the application to 
determine compliance subject to the following 
requirements: 

(1) A copy of the final printed labeling shall be 
reviewed by the head as soon as practicable 
after a registration is issued in order to 
verify compliance;  

(2)  A new product registered [shall] must be 
accompanied, at the time of use, by labeling 
meeting all applicable criteria of sections 4-
66-4 to 4-66-31.  New product labeling [shall] 
must also contain a statement identifying "For 
distribution and use only within the State of 
Hawaii" and the assigned special local need 
number. 

(3) For a registration of an additional use of a 



§4-66-40 

66-29 
 

federally registered product, labeling from 
the federally registered product [shall] must 
be accompanied at the time of use by 
supplemental labeling that contains: 
(A)  A statement identifying "For distribution 

and use only within the State of Hawaii"; 
(B)  Directions for use to meet the special 

local need which satisfy the criteria of 
sections 4-66-10 to 4-66-31; 

(C)  The trade name of the product;  
(D)  The name and address of the special local 

need registrant; 
(E)  The EPA registration number of the 

federally registered product; 
(F)  The assigned special local need number; 
(G)  A statement requiring a person using the 

product to comply with all applicable 
directions, restrictions, and precautions 
found in the labeling of the federally 
registered product; and 

(H)  A statement prohibiting the use of the 
product in a manner inconsistent with 
federal and accompanying supplemental 
labeling. 

(4)  If the head classifies for restricted use a 
product or product use registered by the head, 
which is not required to be classified as 
restricted use by section 4-66-32, then the 
head shall require supplemental labeling for 
the product or product use to have additional 
appropriate precautions, and a statement that 
the product or product use is for restricted 
use. 

(b) All products registered by the head [shall] must 
meet all appropriate federal packaging standards as well 
as all appropriate standards for coloration established 
and contained in section 4-66-42.1.  Prior to issuing any 
registration, the head shall determine that the product 
conforms to these requirements. [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and comp                 
]  (Auth: HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v 
(c); 40 CFR §162.153) (Imp: HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-
33; 7 USC §136v (c); 40 CFR §162.153) 

 



§4-66-38 

66-30 
 

 
 §4-66-40  Special local need; classification. 
 (a) As part of the registration of any part or 
use, the head shall classify the product or product use 
consistent with section 4-66-32. 
 (b) A product or product use thereof registered by
The head shall be classified by the head for restricted 
use if the product is identical or similar in composition 
to a federally registered product for which the use has 
been classified as restricted under federal law or for 
which a use similar to the registered use has been 
classified as restricted use under federal law, and the 
registered product or product use meets the criteria for 
classification as restricted use pesticides under section 
4-66-32.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS§§149A-19, 
149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v (c); 40 CFR §162.153) (Imp:  
HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v (c); 40 CFR 
§162.153) 
 
 
 §4-66-41  Special local need; notification and 
submission of data to the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA).  (a)  Within ten working days from the date of 
issuance of amendments or revocation of a registration, 
the head shall notify EPA in writing, of the action.  
Notification of registrations, or amendments thereto, 
shall include the confidential statements of the formula 
of any new product, and a copy of the draft labeling 
reviewed and approved by the head, provided that labeling 
previously approved by the EPA as part of a federal 
registration need not be submitted. 

(b)  Notification of registrations or amendments 
shall be supplemented by sending to EPA a copy of the 
final printed labeling approved by the head within forty-
five days after the effective date of registration or 
amendment.   
 (c)  Notification of revocation of registration 
shall indicate the effective date of revocation, and 
shall state the reasons for revocation.   

(d)  Within fifteen working days from receipt of a 
request from EPA, the head shall submit any data used to 
determine that any unreasonable adverse effect on humans 
or the environment shall not be caused by a registration 



§4-66-40 

66-31 
 

of a product with a composition not similar to any 
federally registered product, or an additional use of a 
federally registered product, or a use of a product with 
a composition similar to that of a federally registered 
product, or if registration of other uses of the 
federally registered product has been denied, suspended, 
or canceled because of health, safety, or environmental
concerns.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and 
comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-
19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v (c); 40 CFR §162.153) 
(Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v (c); 
40 CFR §162.153) 

 
 

 §4-66-42 Repealed. [R 12/16/06] 
 
 
 §4-66-42.1   Coloration of pesticides.  (a)  The 
following requirements for the coloration of certain 
pesticides have been determined necessary for the 
protection of public health and the environment. 

(b)  Seed Treatment products. 
(1)  Pesticide products intended for use in 

treating seeds must contain an EPA-approved 
dye to impart an unnatural color to the seed, 
unless appropriate tolerances or other 
clearances have been established for residues 
of the pesticide under title 21 United States 
Code section 346a (a)-(q) (2017), the Federal 
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.  

(2)  The following products are exempt from the 
requirement of paragraph (b)(1) of this 
section: 
(A)  Products intended and labeled for use 

solely for commercial seed treatment, 
provided that the label bears a statement 
requiring the user to add an EPA-approved 
dye with the pesticide during the seed 
treatment process. 

(B)  Products intended and labeled for use 
solely as at-planting or hopper box 
treatments. 

(C)  Products, which are gaseous in form or 
are used as fumigants. 



§4-66-40 

66-32 
 

(3) EPA-approved dyes for seed treatment are those 
listed in sections 180.910, 180.920, or 
180.2020, title 40, Code of Federal 
Regulations [(2017)] (2023).  [Eff and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp                
]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-16, 149A-33; 40 CFR 
§§153.140, 153.155) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-16, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §§153.140, 153.155)

 
 

 §4-66-43  Enforcement.  (a) As allowed by law, the 
head may enter any place or conveyance where pesticides 
or nonchemical pest control devices are manufactured, 
stored, packed, delivered for transportation, 
transported, offered for sale or sold, and may inspect 
and take samples of the pesticides and nonchemical pest 
control devices.  An unbroken package may be taken as the 
official sample where the pesticide is packed in small 
bottles, or small packages.  Where the pesticide is 
packed in large containers, the official samples may be a 
portion taken from one original unopened package in a 
lot.  A chain-of-custody for each sample, from collection 
through analysis and final disposition, shall be 
maintained on forms prescribed by the head. 
 (b) As allowed by law, the head may enter any 
place or conveyance where pesticides are suspected of 
being applied on non-target sites or locations, or where 
pesticides are suspected of being applied in a manner 
inconsistent with the pesticide label, and may inspect 
and take official samples where pesticide residue is 
likely to be present.  A chain-of-custody for each 
sample, from collection through analysis and final 
disposition, shall be maintained on forms prescribed by 
the head. 

(c)  Methods of analyzing samples shall be those 
adopted and published by the Association of Official 
Analytical Chemists, Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC 
International (20th edition 2016), where applicable, and 
other methods as may be necessary to determine whether 
the product complies with the Act or these rules.   

(d) A notice of violation shall include: 
(1) If from an examination or analysis, a 

pesticide or nonchemical pest control device 
appears to be in violation of the Act or these 
rules, a notice in writing shall be sent to 

Formatted: Strikethrough



§4-66-43 

66-33 
 

the person against whom proceedings are 
contemplated, giving that person the 
opportunity to offer a written explanation.  
The notice shall state the manner in which the 
sample failed to meet the requirements of the 
Act or these rules; and 

(2) Any person may, in addition to this written 
reply to the notice, file with the head within 
twenty days of receipt of the notice a written 
request for a hearing in connection therewith. 

(e) The head may issue "stop sale" and "removal 
from sale" orders to vendors regarding any pesticide or 
nonchemical pest control device that violates or fails to 
comply with the provisions of the Act or these rules, and 
may place written or printed "stop sale" and "removal 
from sale" notices on any pesticide or nonchemical pest 
control device. 

(1) Upon receipt of the "stop sale" or "removal 
from sale" order, the vendors shall correct 
the violation and effect full compliance 
therewith.  The articles shall not hereafter 
be sold, offered for sale, transferred or 
disposed of except upon authorization by the 
head; and 

(2)  No person shall remove, deface or tamper with 
any "stop sale" and "removal from sale" notice 
issued by the head. 

(f)  The head may seize any pesticide or nonchemical 
pest control device that is distributed, sold, offered 
for sale, transported, or delivered for transportation in 
violation of the Act or these rules.  No notice or 
hearing shall be required prior to the seizure of a 
pesticide or nonchemical pest control device.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-ll, 149A-20, 149A-
21, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-11, 149A-20, 149A-21, 
149A-33) 

 
 

 §4-66-44  Notice of enforcement action.  
Publication of judgments of the courts in cases arising 
under the criminal or seizure provisions of the Act or 
these rules, and any final order issued by the department 
for violation of the Act or these rules, may be made in 



§4-66-43 

66-34 
 

the form of notices, circulars, or bulletins as the head 
may direct.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-21, 
149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-21, 149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-45  Experimental use permits; generally.  
Experimental use permits may be issued for the
intrastate shipment, delivery or use of a pesticide 
product that is to be tested further to determine the 
scope and limitations of its usefulness and the effect 
of its use on humans and the environment.  Permits may be 
issued for products for use in experimental programs 
under the supervision of applicators certified in 
demonstration and research pest control and broad scale 
testing under normal conditions of use.  The head may 
require the information and data concerning the product 
and the proposed testing program that is deemed necessary 
to make determinations on the merits of the proposals.  
[Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; 
comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §§172.20 to 172.26) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 
149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR §§172.20 to 172.26) 
 
 
 §4-66-46   Experimental use permits; prohibitions.  
No permits shall be issued for any of the following: 

(1) A product containing an active or inert 
ingredient that is currently subject to an EPA 
cancellation or suspension of registration 
order, or that is currently subject to an EPA 
notice of intent to suspend or cancel 
registration because of human health, 
environmental, or efficacy consideration; 
except that a permit may be issued for such a 
product for a purpose or in a formulation 
that: 
(A) Is not specifically considered in, or 

that is not subject to, suspension or 
cancellation proceedings, after 
consultation with appropriate EPA 
officials; or 

(B)  Was specifically considered during the 
proceedings but not suspended, canceled, 



§4-66-48 

66-35 
 

or subject to a notice of intent to 
suspend or cancel. 

(2) A use of a product that has been the subject 
of a notice of denial of registration under 
FIFRA; and 

(3) A use of a product, which may involve use in 
or on food or feed other than as authorized in 
section 4-66-47.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 
149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR §172.24) (Imp:  HRS 
§§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR §172.24) 

 
 

 §4-66-47  Experimental use permits; exceptions.  
Upon written notification of the head, no experimental 
use permit is required for the intrastate shipment or use 
of a substance or mixture of substances being put through 
laboratory, enclosed space production, or limited field 
trials of less than one-fourth acre, in which the 
following three criteria have been met: (1) the purpose 
of the laboratory, enclosed space production, or limited 
field trials is to determine the value of a substance or 
mixture of substances as a pesticide or to determine its 
toxicity, or other properties; (2) the tests will be 
conducted by recognized research personnel; and (3) the 
research personnel conducting the tests do not expect to 
receive any benefit, other than the research, in pest 
control from the use of the substance or mixture of 
substances. 
 If these three criteria are met, the substances or 
mixture of substances are not considered to be pesticides 
within the meaning of the Act or these rules.  No State 
experimental use permit is required if an experimental 
use permit has been issued by the EPA for the proposed 
trial(s).   
 Written notification shall be submitted on forms 
prescribed by the head.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 7 USC §136v (a)) 
(Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-48  Experimental use permits; provisions for 



§4-66-45 

66-36 
 

issuance.  (a)  A permit is required for a pesticide 
intended for experimental use that is not exempt under 
section 4-66-47.  If a pesticide is to be tested for a 
use, which is likely to result in a residue on or in food 
or feed, a permit for experimental use may be issued 
provided: 

(1)  A tolerance or exemption from the requirements 
of a tolerance has been established under
section 408 of the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act, codified at title 21 United 
States Code section 346a (2017); or a 
regulation established under section 409 of 
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, 
codified at title 21 United States Code 
section 348 (2017); or 

(2)  The food or feed product derived from the 
experimental use permit shall be destroyed or 
used as feed only for laboratory or 
experimental animals for testing purposes; or 

(3)  Convincing evidence is submitted by the 
applicant that the proposed use shall not 
result in residues in or on food or feed that 
would be in excess of that authorized under 
section 408 of the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act, codified at title 21 United 
States Code section 346a (2017), or a 
regulation established under section 409 of 
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, 
section 348 of title 21, United States Code 
(2017), which would be hazardous to humans, 
other animals, or the environment. 

 (b)  A permit shall be issued only if it is clearly 
shown in the permit application that the applicant's 
instructions for use reasonably assure the protection of 
humans and the environment. 
 (c)  All applications for an experimental use 
permit shall be filed by a qualified person on a form 
prescribed by the head.  Each application shall contain 
the following:  

(1) Name and address of the shipper, the 
consignee, and place or places from which the 
shipment shall be made; 

(2) Proposed date of shipment, or proposed 
shipping period that shall not exceed one year 



§4-66-48 

66-37 
 

from the permit application date, and quantity 
to be shipped; 

(3) A statement of the composition of material to 
be covered by the permit, which shall apply to 
a single material or similar formulations of 
the material; 

(4) The name, address and telephone number and 
qualification of the person responsible for 
conducting the test;  

(5) Available data or reference to available data 
on the analytical method and toxicity of the 
pesticide; 

(6) The purpose or objective of the proposed 
tests; a description of the proposed testing 
program including test parameters; a 
designation of the pest organism or organisms 
involved; the amount of pesticide product 
proposed for use; the crops, fauna, flora, 
sites, modes, dosage rate, and situation of 
applications on or in which the pesticide is 
to be used; the number of acres, number of 
structure sites, or number of animals to be 
treated or included in the area of 
experimental use; the proposed dates, or 
period, or periods during which the testing 
program is to be conducted and the manner in 
which supervision of the program shall be 
accomplished; and the method of destruction or 
disposal of treated food or feed; 

(7) A statement that the pesticide is intended for 
experimental use only;   

(8) Proposed labeling that shall bear: 
(A) The prominent statement "For Distribution 

and Experimental Use Only Within Hawaii" 
in the container label and any 
accompanying circular or other labeling; 

(B) A warning or caution statement that may 
be necessary and if complied with is 
adequate for the protection of those who 
may handle or be exposed to the 
experimental formulations; 

(C)  The name and address of the applicant for 
the permit; 

(D)  The name or designation of the 



§4-66-48 

66-38 
 

formulation; and 
(E)  If the pesticide is to be sold to 

experimental use program participants, a 
statement of the names and percentages of 
the principal active ingredients in the 
product; provided that, if the shipper 
submits a copy of a valid experimental 
use permit issued under the provisions of
FIFRA, and the accepted labeling related 
thereto, at the head's discretion, the 
head may exempt the shipper from the 
requirement of submitting a part of the 
application, the data, and information 
specified in this subsection; and 

(9) A statement as to the disposal of any unused 
portions of the experimental pesticide.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 
8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR §172.24) 
(Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR 
§172.24) 

 
 

 §4-66-49 Experimental use permits; restrictions. 
 (a) The head may limit the quantity of a pesticide 
covered by an experimental use permit to a lesser 
quantity than requested if available information on 
effectiveness, toxicity, or other hazards is not 
sufficient to justify the scope of experimental use 
proposed in the application, or make other limitations in 
the permit as may be determined to be necessary for the 
protection of the public. 

(b) A pesticide shipped or delivered solely for 
experimental use shall not be offered or advertised for 
general sale or use. 

(c) Unless revoked by the head, experimental use 
permits shall be effective for a specified period of 
time, depending upon the crop or site to be treated and 
the testing program submitted.  Permits may be renewed 
upon request if circumstance warrants.  Applications for 
renewal of experimental use permits shall be submitted no 
less than thirty days prior to the permit expiration 
dated.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; 
comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 



§4-66-48 

66-39 
 

149A-33; 40 CFR §172.25) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 
149A-33; 40 CFR §172.25) 
 

 
§4-66-50  Experimental use permits; reports. At 

specific intervals to be prescribed by the head, the 
experimental use permittee shall submit periodic reports 
to the head regarding the status of the experimental 
program.  The permittee shall immediately report to the
head any incidents of unreasonable adverse effects on the 
environment from use, or from exposure to pesticides 
covered by an experimental use permit.  These periodic 
reports shall include the following information: 

(1)  Quantity of the pesticide shipped and used 
during the reporting period;   

(2)  Name and address of consignee and ultimate 
destination and amount of each shipment; 

(3)  A summary of data on effectiveness, 
 phytotoxicity, or other pertinent information 

regarding usefulness obtained during the 
permit period; 

(4)  Any additional data obtained on residue or 
analytical methods obtained; 

(5)  Any additional data obtained on toxicity or 
unreasonable adverse effects to humans, non-
target animals, or the environment; 

(6)  Any residue data obtained on the treated crop 
or site on which determination can be made 
regarding reentry into the treated area; 

(7)  Disposition of unused pesticide; and 
(8)  Such other information and data as may be 

prescribed by the head.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and 
comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 
149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR §172.25) (Imp:  HRS 
§§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-33; 40 CFR §172.25) 

 
 

 §4-66-51 Experimental use permits; monitoring and 
revocation.  (a)  The head shall monitor the testing 
program if it is determined necessary for protection of 
the public health and environment.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the permittee or person supervising the 
experiment to immediately report to the head any 



§4-66-51 

66-40 
 

incidents or adverse reaction from use of, or exposure to 
the pesticide covered by an experimental use permit. 

(b) The head shall revoke an experimental use 
permit if it is determined that the permit terms or 
conditions are being violated, or that the permit terms 
or conditions are inadequate to avoid unreasonable 
adverse effects on humans or the environment. 

(c) Failure to comply with the terms or conditions 
of any State issued experimental use permit may subject 
the permittee, or person supervising the experiment, or 
both, to additional penalties as provided by law.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ] (Auth:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-
33; 40 CFR §172.25) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-22, 149A-
33; 40 CFR §172.25) 

 
 

 §4-66-52 Restricted use pesticide dealer and 
dealer representative.  (a)  Persons who sell restricted 
use pesticides, pesticides requiring an annual use permit 
or special permit to apply restricted use pesticides by 
aerial application, shall obtain a dealer sales permit 
for that purpose from the department. The dealer sales 
permit shall expire on December 31 of each year and shall 
be renewed no less than thirty calendar days before 
January 1 of each year. 

(b)  Any manufacturer, registrant, or distributor of 
a restricted use pesticide who has no sales outlet within 
this State, and who sells or distributes the pesticides 
directly to the user, shall obtain a Hawaii pesticide 
dealer sales permit for its principal out-of-state 
location or outlet.   

(c) Application for a restricted use pesticide 
dealer sales permit shall be made on forms prescribed by 
the head and shall include the name and address of the 
applicant, location of the sales outlet, and name or 
names of the restricted use pesticide dealer 
representative or representatives at each sales outlet. 
 (d)  All restricted use pesticides dealer sales 
outlets shall have a pesticide dealer representative.  
The names of the pesticide dealer representatives shall 
be submitted together with the application for the dealer 
sales outlet permit.  Each restricted use pesticide 
dealer representative shall obtain a permit. 



§4-66-51 

66-41 
 

(e) Persons seeking to obtain a pesticide dealer 
representative permit shall apply for examination on 
forms prescribed by the head.  To qualify, an applicant 
shall pass a written examination at a time and place 
designated by the head.  Examination shall test the 
applicant's knowledge of pesticide laws, rules, and 
regulations, pesticide hazards, proper usage, safe 
storage and distribution and disposal methods.  The 
restricted use pesticide dealer shall notify the head 
within thirty calendar days of any personnel change in
the restricted use pesticide dealer representative 
position. 

(f) A permit issued to a restricted use pesticide 
dealer representative shall be valid for five years.  
Renewal shall be by examination.  Applications for 
renewal of restricted use pesticide dealer representative 
permits shall be submitted no less than thirty days prior 
to the permit expiration date.     

(g) Every restricted use pesticide dealer 
permitted to sell restricted use pesticides shall be 
responsible for the acts of all pesticide dealer 
representatives and individuals employed in the 
solicitation, sale, distribution and handling of 
pesticides. 

(h) Restricted use pesticide dealer sales outlets 
shall only distribute, solicit, sell, offer for sale, 
hold for sale, receive order for sale, or transport 
restricted use pesticides to a certified pesticide 
applicator, or non-certified applicator under the 
supervision of a certified pesticide applicator, and only 
those restricted use pesticides that are relevant to the 
certification category of the certified applicator. 

(i) Any violation of the Act or these rules, 
whether committed by the dealer, dealer representative, 
or by any other officer, agent, or employee of the dealer 
may result in suspension or revocation of the dealer's 
permit or the dealer representative's permit, or both, as 
well as any other penalty provided by law.  [Eff 7/13/81; 
am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]   (Auth:  HRS §§149A-11, 149A-17, 149A-
18, 149A-19, 14’A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-11, 149A-17, 
149A-18, 149A-19, 149A-33) 
 
 



§4-66-55 

66-42 
 

 §4-66-53 Dealers' records and reports.   (a) 
Dealers permitted to sell or distribute restricted use 
pesticides [shall] must keep a record of each sale, 
distribution, delivery, theft, spill, or any other 
activity affecting the amount of restricted use 
pesticides, pesticides requiring an annual permit 
pursuant to section 4-66-63.1, and special permit to 
apply restricted use pesticides by aerial application 
pursuant to section 4-66-64.  These records [shall] must 
be kept at each sales outlet on forms or through other 
media approved by the head.  
 (b) Records [shall] must show the name and address 
of purchaser, a description of the activity affecting 
the amount of restricted use pesticide or pesticide 
requiring an annual permit or special permit, date of 
sale or other activity affecting the inventory amount, 
identity of the formulation or brand sold and quantity 
(including product name and EPA registration number and 
any applicable emergency exemption or special local need 
registration number), and for sales of restricted use 
pesticides, the applicator's certification number, 
certification category and certification expiration 
date, intended use and the name or initials of the 
employee making the sale or record entry. 

(c)  A copy of the permitted sales outlet's records 
as specified in this section shall be submitted to the 
head within fifteen calendar days after the end of each 
calendar month for which the record is being kept.  A 
copy [shall] must be kept at the permitted sales outlet 
where the sales were made for a period of [one year] two 
years. 

(d) Failure to submit a copy of the permitted 
sales outlet's records to the head within fifteen 
calendar days after the end of each calendar month shall 
subject the dealer permitted to sell or distribute 
restricted use pesticides to penalties pursuant to 
section 149A-41, Hawaii Revised Statutes or any other 
penalty provided by law.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19;                         
am and comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-17, 
149A-19, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-17, 149A-19, 149A-33) 

 
 

 §4-66-54 Storage, display, and sale of pesticides.  



§4-66-51 

66-43 
 

(a)  No pesticide shall be stored, displayed, placed for 
sale or transported where food and food containers, 
feed, water for human or animal consumption, or any 
other items are likely to become contaminated and may 
create a hazard or cause injury to humans, vegetation, 
crops, livestock, wildlife, beneficial insects and 
aquatic life. 

(b) Pesticides labeled for lawns, gardens and 
other outdoor uses shall be offered for sale only in 
garden supply centers or in other retail outlets that 
have a separate and distinct section for display of 
pesticides for outdoor use, as distinguished from 
pesticides formulated and registered for use inside the 
home.   

(c) A prominent sign with legible bold print not 
less than one-half inch in height to read "pesticide 
products for garden and lawn or outdoor use only - it is 
unlawful and may be hazardous to use inside your home" 
shall be posted in the area where such lawn and garden 
pesticides are displayed and sold. 

(d) Every retailer that sells or distributes 
pesticide products to the public shall prominently post 
within ten feet of any pesticide product display or sales 
area, a warning sign that includes: 

(1) Information regarding the proper handling, 
storage, and disposal of all pesticides sold; 

(2) Emergency telephone numbers to call in case of 
poisoning from the pesticides; and 

(3) A statement that use of any pesticide product 
in a manner inconsistent with its label is 
prohibited by law. 

The warning sign shall be no less than seventeen 
inches by twenty two inches and contain lettering of 
sufficient size, no less than sixteen point bold 
type, which will enable the sign to be read from a 
distance of six feet under all lighting conditions 
normally encountered during business hours.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; 
comp                ] (Auth:  HRS §§149A-15.5, 149A-
31, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-15.5, 149A-31, 149A-
33) 
 
 

 §4-66-55 Disposal of pesticides and empty 



§4-66-55 

66-44 
 

pesticide containers.  (a)  Pesticides and empty 
containers shall be disposed of in accordance with label 
directions and, if applicable, at a facility authorized 
to accept solid waste pursuant to chapter 11-58.1, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules, or in accordance with 
chapter 11-262.1, Hawaii Administrative Rules. 

(b) If the disposal method is not specified on the 
label, the pesticide container shall be triple-rinsed or 
equivalent, punctured, and placed in the trash for refuse 
collection or offered for recycling, if appropriate.   

(c) Owners of unused pesticides may contact the 
Department's Pesticide Branch for information on 
pesticide disposal.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; 
am and comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-19, 149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-19, 149A-33)

 
 

 §4-66-56 Certification of applicators.  (a) No 
person shall apply restricted use pesticides unless 
certified in the category appropriate to the application 
or under the direct supervision of a certified applicator 
certified in the appropriate category.  An applicator 
applying restricted use pesticides shall be certified as: 

(1) A commercial pesticide applicator; or 
(2) A private pesticide applicator.  
(b) Commercial pesticide applicators shall be 

further divided into categories and subcategories based 
on general patterns of use and sites where specific 
knowledge related to the use pattern or site is required 
to demonstrate competency.  A person may be certified in 
as many categories or subcategories as necessary.  The 
commercial pesticide applicator categories and 
subcategories are as follows: 

(1)  Category 1, agricultural pest control, which 
includes the following subcategories: 
(A) Crop pest control.  For persons using or 

supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides in production of agricultural 
commodities, including but not limited to 
grains, seeds, soybeans, feed and forage 
crops, vegetables, fruits, trees and 
nuts, as well as non-crop agricultural 
lands; 

(B)  Animal pest control. For persons using or 
supervising the use of restricted use 



§4-66-56 

66-45 
 

pesticides to control pests on animals 
including, but not limited to, beef and 
dairy cattle, swine, sheep, horses, 
goats, and poultry, and to places on or 
in which animals are confined; and 
doctors of veterinary medicine engaged in 
the business of application for hire, 
publicly holding themselves out as 
pesticide applicators or engaged in large 
scale use of pesticides; 

(C) Soil and non-soil fumigant pest control.  
For persons using or supervising the use 
of restricted use pesticides to fumigate 
soil and to fumigate anything other than 
soil;    

(D) Seed treatment. For persons using or 
supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides other than by fumigation on 
seeds in seed treatment facilities; 

(2)  Category 2, forest pest control.  For persons 
using or supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides in forests, forest nurseries, and 
forest seed production;  

(3)  Category 3, ornamental and turf pest control.  
For persons using or supervising the use of 
restricted use pesticides to control pests in 
the maintenance and production of ornamental 
plants, trees, shrubs, flowers and turf; 

(4)  Category 4, aerial pest control.  For persons 
using or supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides by aerial application; 

(5)  Category 5, aquatic pest control.  For persons 
using or supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides purposefully applied to standing or 
running water, excluding applicators engaged 
in public health related activities included 
in sections 4-66-56(8) and 4-66-56(9); 

(6)  Category 6, right-of-way pest control.  For 
persons using or supervising the use of 
restricted use pesticides in the maintenance 
of roadsides, powerlines, pipelines, and 
railway rights-of-way, and similar areas, but 
excluding aquatic rights-of-way; 

(7) Category 7, industrial, institutional, and 



§4-66-56 

66-46 
 

structural pest control, which includes the 
following subcategories: 
(A)  Fumigation pest control.  For persons 

using or supervising the use of fumigant 
restricted use pesticides to control 
termites and other pests in or around 
food handling establishments, human 
dwellings, institutions such as schools 
and hospitals, industrial sites such as 
warehouses, grain elevators, and any 
other structures and adjacent area, 
public or private, and for the protection 
of stored, processed or manufactured 
products.  The corresponding branch of 
pest control established pursuant to 
section 460J-12, Hawaii Revised Statutes, 
is Branch 1, Fumigation; 

(B)  Termite pest control.  For persons using
or supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides other than by fumigation to 
control subterranean and drywood termites 
in or around human dwellings, 
institutions such as schools and 
hospitals, hotels, industrial sites, and 
any other structures and adjacent area, 
public or private.  The corresponding 
branch of pest control established 
pursuant to section 460J-12, Hawaii 
Revised Statutes, is Branch 3, Termite; 

(C)  General pest control.  For persons using 
or supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides to control pests, in or around 
food establishments, human dwellings, 
institutions such as schools, hospitals, 
industrial sites such as warehouses, and 
any other structures and adjacent area, 
public or private; and for the protection 
of stored, processed or manufactured 
products, excluding those applicators 
certified in category 3, ornamental and 
turf pest control, and subcategories 7(A) 
and 7(B).  The corresponding branch of 
pest control established pursuant to 
section 460J-12, Hawaii Revised Statutes, 



§4-66-56 

66-47 
 

is Branch 2, General Pest; 
(D)  Institutional pest control.  For persons 

using or supervising the use of 
restricted use pesticides exclusive of 
fumigants to control pests at 
institutions (e.g., schools, hotels, 
hospitals, warehouses, industrial sites), 
or establishments (e.g., grain elevators, 
restaurants, bakeries, fast food outlets) 
where they are employed; 

(E)  Vault fumigation pest control.  For 
persons using or supervising the use of 
restricted use pesticides to fumigate 
vaults or chambers, to control pests in 
agricultural commodities or structural 
materials, and including stored, 
processed or manufactured products, 
exclusive of those individuals licensed 
as pest control operators and certified 
in category 7(A), 7(B), or 7(C); 

(F)  Specialty categories.  For persons using 
or supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides where the scope of application 
is typically limited to a single active 
ingredient, a single site, a single 
facility or a single application method, 
such as using restricted use pesticides 
for controlling roots in sewer lines, 
prevention of pests on marine surfaces 
through the use of restricted use 
coatings, controlling wood pests through 
the use of pressure or submergence 
treatment, and persons who use chlorine 
gas; 

(8) Category 8, public health pest control.  For 
federal, state or other governmental employees 
and contractors using or supervising the use 
of restricted use pesticides in public health 
programs for the management and control of 
pests having medical and public health 
importance; 

(9)  Category 9, regulatory pest control.  For 
state, federal, or other government employees 
and contractors using or supervising the use 



§4-66-56 
 

66-48 
 

of restricted use pesticides in the control of 
regulated pests prescribed under the Hawaii 
Plant Quarantine Law, chapter 150A, Hawaii 
Revised Statutes, and the Federal Plant 
Protection Act, title 7, chapter 104, sections 
7701-7786, United States Code (2017); 

(10) Category 10, demonstration, research and 
instructional pest control.  For persons who 
demonstrate to the public the proper use and 
techniques of application of restricted use 
pesticides or supervise such demonstration, 
and persons conducting field research with 
pesticides, and in doing so, use or supervise 
the use of restricted use pesticides; and 

(11) Category 11, chemigation pest control.  For 
persons using or supervising the use of 
restricted use pesticides other than by 
fumigation applied through an irrigation 
system.  Certification in this 
category requires concurrent certification in 
category 1(A), 2, 3, or 10.   

 (c) Private pesticide applicators shall be further 
divided into categories based on general patterns of use 
and sites where specific knowledge related to the use 
pattern or site is required to demonstrate competency.  A 
person may be certified in as many categories as 
necessary.  The categories are as follows: 

(1) Category 1, general agricultural pest control.  
For private applicators using or supervising 
the use of restricted use pesticides in the 
production of agricultural commodities; 

(2) Category 2, agricultural pest control with 
fumigants.  For private applicators using or 
supervising the use of restricted use 
pesticides for soil fumigation in the 
production of an agricultural commodity and 
the application of restricted use pesticides 
for fumigation of agricultural products.  
Certification in this category requires 
concurrent certification in category 1, 
general agricultural pest control; and  

(3) Category 3, chemigation.  For persons 
conducting agricultural pest control other 
than by fumigation, with pesticides applied 



§4-66-57 

66-49 
 

through irrigation systems.  Certification in 
this category requires concurrent 
certification in category 1, general 
agricultural pest control.  [Eff 7/13/81; am 
and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am 
and comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §149A-
33; 40 CFR §§171.5, 171.101) (Imp:  HRS §149A-
33; 40 CFR §§171.5, 171.101) 

 
 

 §4-66-57  General standards for certification of 
applicators.  (a)  Applicants for certification [shall] 
must be at least eighteen years of age and shall possess 
a history of honesty, truthfulness, financial integrity 
and fair dealing.  Such personal history shall be based 
on information obtained intra-departmentally, 
interdepartmentally, and/or through publicly available 
records; 
 (b) Competence in the use and handling of 
restricted use pesticides shall be determined by 
receiving a passing score of seventy per cent or better 
on a written examination or any alternate methods 
employed by the department to determine applicator 
competency, or both.  Examinations are based upon 
standards that meet or exceed those set forth in this 
section and section 4-66-58.  The examination shall test 
knowledge applicable to the certification category or 
subcategory, or both, and to the pesticide or class of 
pesticides covered by the requested certification. 

(c) The department shall ensure that examinations 
meet the following standards: 

(1) Examinations [shall] must be presented and 
answered in writing; 

(2) Examinations [shall] must be proctored by an 
individual designated by the department; 

(3) At the time of examination, each person 
seeking certification [shall] must present a 
valid, government-issued photo identification 
or other similarly reliable form of 
identification as proof of identity and age; 

(4) Each person seeking certification [shall] must 
be given instruction on examination procedure 
before beginning the examination; 

(5) Examinations [shall] must be kept secure 



§4-66-57 
 

66-50 
 

before, during, and after the examination 
period.  No portion of the examination or 
associated reference materials may be copied 
or retained by any person other than persons 
authorized by the department; 

(6) There [shall] must be no verbal or non-verbal 
communication with anyone other than the 
proctor during the examination period; 

(7) Only reference materials approved by the 
department may be used during the examination; 
and 

(8) In addition to the written examination the 
department may employ additional methods for 
determining applicator competency. 

 (d) Applicants [shall] must demonstrate practical 
knowledge of the principles and practices of pest 
control.  The knowledge [shall] must include the 
following areas:   

(1) Label and labeling comprehension.  Familiarity 
with pesticide labels and labeling; an 
understanding of label function, format and 
terminology; an understanding of instructions, 
warnings, symbols, and other common labeling 
requirements; an understanding that it is a 
violation of federal and State law to use any 
pesticide in a manner inconsistent with its 
labeling; an understanding that certification 
is required in the certification category 
appropriate to the type and site of the 
application; an understanding of labeling 
requirements for supervising non-certified 
applicators working under the direct 
supervision of a certified applicator; an 
understanding of labeling requirements that a 
certified applicator must be physically 
present at the site of the application; an 
understanding of the meaning of product 
classification as either general or restricted 
use and that a product may be unclassified; 
understanding and complying with product-
specific notification requirements; and 
recognizing the difference between mandatory 
and advisory labeling language; 

(2) Safety measures.  An understanding of the 



§4-66-57 

66-51 
 

risks of acute toxicity, chronic toxicity, and 
long-term effects of pesticides; an 
understanding that risk is a function of 
exposure and pesticide toxicity; recognition 
of ways in which dermal, inhalation, and oral 
exposure may occur; knowledge of common types 
and causes of pesticide mishaps; precautions 
to prevent injury to applicators and other 
individuals in or near treated areas; the need 
for and proper use of personal protective 
equipment and clothing; symptoms of pesticide 
poisoning; first aid and other procedures to 
be followed in case of a pesticide mishap; 
proper identification, storage, transport, 
handling, mixing procedures, and disposal 
methods for pesticides and used pesticide 
containers; and precautions to be taken to 
prevent children from having access to 
pesticides and pesticide containers; 

(3) Environment.  An understanding of the 
potential environmental consequences of the 
use and misuse of restricted use pesticides; 
an understanding of the influence of weather 
and other indoor and outdoor climatic 
conditions; the influence of types of terrain, 
soil, or other substrate; presence of fish, 
wildlife, and other non-target organisms; and, 
drainage patterns;   

(4) Pests.  An understanding of the importance of 
correctly identifying target pests and 
selecting the proper pesticide product for 
effective pest control; and, verifying that 
the labeling does not prohibit the use of the 
product to control the target pest; 

(5) Pesticides.  Knowledge of the characteristics 
of various pesticides, including the types of 
pesticides; types of formulations; 
compatibility, synergism, persistence, and 
animal and plant toxicity of the formulations; 
hazards and residues associated with use; 
factors that influence effectiveness or lead 
to problems such as pesticide resistance; and, 
dilution procedures;  

(6) Application equipment.  Practical knowledge of 



§4-66-57 
 

66-52 
 

type, maintenance, use, and calibration of 
pesticide application equipment and an 
understanding of advantages and limitations of 
each type of equipment.  Additional knowledge 
of calibration shall be required of applicants 
using or supervising the use of highly 
specialized equipment; 

(7) Application methods.  Practical knowledge and 
understanding of selecting the appropriate 
application method; an understanding of 
methods used to apply various forms and 
formulations of pesticides; knowledge of which 
application method to use in a given situation 
and that use of a fumigant, aerial 
application, or other special category 
pesticide requires additional certification; 
how selection of application method and use of 
a pesticide may result in proper use, 
unnecessary or ineffective use, and misuse; a 
practical understanding of pesticide drift and 
runoff, and the resulting effect on non-target 
organisms, such as wildlife, apiaries, humans, 
human habitation, lakes, rivers, wetlands, 
coastal waters, surface waters and ground 
waters; and knowledge of techniques, 
formulations, and methods to prevent drift and 
pesticide loss into the environment; 

(8) Laws, rules, and regulations.  Knowledge of 
all applicable federal and State laws, rules, 
and regulations; 

(9) Responsibilities of supervisors of non-
certified applicators.  Practical knowledge of 
applicable Federal and State supervisory 
requirements, including any requirements on 
the product label and labeling, regarding the 
use of restricted use pesticides by non-
certified applicators.  Knowledge of the 
responsibilities of certified applicators 
supervising non-certified applicators using 
restricted use pesticides; understanding and 
complying with [title ]40[,] CFR section 
171.201[, Code of Federal Regulations [(2018)] 
(2023) (40 CFR section 171.201 (2023) can be 
found at 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Underline



§4-66-58 

66-53 
 

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-
title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-
sec171-201.pdf); knowledge and understanding 
of the recordkeeping requirements of pesticide 
safety training for non-certified applicators 
who use restricted use pesticides under the 
direct supervision of a certified applicator; 
providing use-specific written instructions to 
non-certified applicators who use restricted 
use pesticides under the direct supervision of 
a certified applicator; and explaining 
pertinent federal and State laws, rules and 
regulations to non-certified applicators who 
use restricted use pesticides under the direct 
supervision of a certified applicator; and 

(10) Professionalism.  Knowledge and understanding 
of the importance of maintaining chemical 
security for restricted use pesticides; how to 
effectively communicate information about 
pesticide exposures and risks; and, 
appropriate product stewardship for certified 
applicators.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am and  
comp               ]  (Auth:  HRS §149A-33; 40 
CFR §§171.5, 171.103) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33; 40 
CFR §§171.5, 171.103) 

 
 

 §4-66-58 Specific standards for certification of 
applicators.  In addition to satisfying the requirements 
of section 4-66-57, applicants for certification [shall] 
must demonstrate through written examinations practical 
knowledge of the principles and practices of pest control 
and proper and effective use of restricted use pesticides 
for each particular category or subcategory of 
certification applied for, as follows:   
 (a) Commercial applicators  

(1)  Category 1, agricultural pest 
control, which includes the 
following subcategories: 
(A)  Crop pest control applicators 

[shall] must demonstrate practical 
knowledge of the crops, grasslands, 
and non-crop agricultural lands and 

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-sec171-201.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-sec171-201.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-sec171-201.pdf


§4-66-58 
 

66-54 
 

the specific pests on those areas on 
which the applicator may be using 
restricted use pesticides.  
Applicators in this category [shall] 
must demonstrate operational 
knowledge concerning soil and water 
problems, pre-harvest intervals, 
restricted entry intervals, 
phytotoxicity, potential for 
environmental contamination, non-
target injury and other problems 
resulting from the use of restricted 
use pesticides in agricultural 
areas.  The required knowledge 
includes the potential for 
phytotoxicity due to a wide variety 
of plants to be protected, for 
drift, for persistency beyond the 
intended period of pest control, and 
for non-target exposures; 

(B)  Animal pest control applicators 
[shall] must demonstrate practical 
knowledge of such animals and the 
animals’ associated pests.  The 
required knowledge includes specific 
pesticide toxicity and residue 
potential, and the hazards 
associated with factors such as 
formulation, application techniques, 
age of animals, stress and extent of 
treatment; [and] 

(C) Soil and non-soil fumigant pest 
control applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate practical knowledge of 
the pest problems and pest control 
practices associated with performing 
fumigation applications, including 
label and labeling comprehension, 
worker protection measures, 
restricted entry periods, 
recordkeeping requirements, and 
safety measures to minimize adverse 
health effects.  Applicators [shall] 
must also demonstrate an 

Formatted: Strikethrough



§4-66-58 

66-55 
 

understanding of how applicators and 
bystanders can be exposed to 
fumigants, signs and symptoms of 
exposure to fumigants, first aid 
procedures, emergency 
preparedness, the ability to 
calculate buffer zones, air 
concentrations of fumigant, and 
preparation of site-specific 
fumigant management plans and post-
application summaries. Soil and non-
soil fumigant pest control 
applicators must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of the pest 
problems and pest control practices 
associated with performing soil 
fumigant applications and fumigation 
applications to sites other than 
soil as specified in title 40 CFR, 
Code of Federal Regulations section 
171.103(d)(13) and (14) (2023) (40 
CFR section 171.103 can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/
CFR-2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-
title40-vol26-sec171-103.pdf); and 
 

(D) Seed treatment applicators must 
demonstrate practical knowledge 
including recognizing types of seeds 
to be treated, the effects of 
carriers and surface active agents 
on pesticide binding and 
germination, the hazards associated 
with handling, sorting and mixing, 
and misuse of treated seed, the 
importance of proper application 
techniques to avoid harm to non-
target organisms, and the proper 
disposal of unused treated seeds. 

(2)  Category 2, forest pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of the types of 
forests, forest nurseries, seed 
production and pest involved.  The 



§4-66-58 
 

66-56 
 

required knowledge [shall] must include 
the cyclic occurrence of certain pests, 
population dynamics as a basis for 
programming pesticide applications, the 
relevant organisms causing harm and the 
organisms vulnerability to the pesticides 
to be applied, how to determine when 
pesticide use is proper, selection of 
application method, proper use of 
application equipment to minimize non-
target exposures, and appropriate 
responses to meteorological factors and 
adjacent land use.  The applicator 
[shall] must demonstrate an understanding 
of the potential for phytotoxicity due to 
a wide variety of plants to be protected, 
for drift, for persistence beyond the 
intended period of pest control, and for 
non-target exposures.  Because forest 
stands frequently include watersheds, 
aquatic situations, and harbor wildlife, 
the applicator [shall] must demonstrate 
knowledge of pest control methods that 
will minimize the possibility of 
secondary problems such as surface or 
ground water contamination and unintended 
effects on wildlife; 

(3)  Category 3, ornamental and turf pest 
control applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate practical knowledge of 
pesticide problems associated with the 
production and maintenance of ornamental 
trees, shrubs, flowers, groundcover, and 
turf, including knowledge of potential 
phytotoxicity due to the wide variety of 
plants to be protected, for drift, for 
persistence beyond the intended period of 
pest control, and for non-target 
exposures.  Because of the frequent 
proximity of human habitations to 
application activities, applicators in 
this category [shall] must also 
demonstrate practical knowledge of 
application methods that will minimize or 



§4-66-58 

66-57 
 

prevent hazards to humans, pets, and 
other domestic animals; 

(4)  Category 4, aerial pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of pest problems and 
pest control practices associated with 
performing aerial application of 
restricted use pesticides as specified in 
title 40 CFR, Code of Federal Regulations 
section 171,103(d)(15) (2023) (40 CFR 
section 171.103 (2023) can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-
2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-
vol26-sec171-103.pdf).  Applicators 
[shall] must also demonstrate the ability 
to read and understand labeling 
requirements specific to aerial 
applications, how to choose, operate and 
maintain aerial application equipment, 
knowledge of factors to consider before 
and during aerial application such as 
weather conditions, wind velocity, and 
how to minimize drift, demonstrate 
competency in performing an aerial 
pesticide application, and knowledge of 
restricted use pesticide recordkeeping 
requirements;  

(5)  Category 5, aquatic pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of the 
characteristics of various aquatic use 
situations, and the potential for adverse 
effects on non-target plants, fish, 
birds, beneficial insects and other 
organisms in the immediate aquatic 
environment and downstream.  Applicators 
[shall] must also demonstrate the 
principles of limited area applications; 

(6) Category 6, right-of-way pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of the types of 
environments (terrestrial and aquatic) 
traversed by rights-of-way, recognition 
of target pests, and techniques to 



§4-66-58 
 

66-58 
 

minimize non-target exposure, runoff, 
drift, and excessive foliage destruction.  
Right-of-way pest control applicators 
[shall] must also demonstrate knowledge 
of the potential for phytotoxicity due to 
a wide variety of plants and pests to be 
controlled, and for persistence beyond 
the intended period of pest control.  
Applicators doing right-of-way work 
[shall] must demonstrate knowledge of 
application equipment, containment of the 
pesticide within the right-of-way area, 
and drift control methods and procedures;  

(7)  Category 7, industrial, institutional, 
and structural pest control applicators 
[shall] must demonstrate a practical 
knowledge of industrial, institutional, 
and structural pests, including 
recognizing those pests and signs of the 
pest's presence, habitats, life cycles, 
biology, and behavior as it may be 
relevant to problem identification and 
control.  Applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate practical knowledge of types 
of formulations appropriate for control 
of industrial, institutional and 
structural pests, and methods of 
application that avoid contamination of 
food, minimize damage to and 
contamination of areas treated, minimize 
acute and chronic exposure of people and 
pets, and minimize environmental impacts 
of outdoor application.  Applicators in 
this category [shall] must also 
demonstrate knowledge of the pesticide 
labeling of the products typically used 
in the applicator's operations, including 
hazards to the environment, emergency 
procedures, application methods, 
disposal, and pertinent laws, rules, and 
regulations.  Applicators in 
subcategories using or supervising the 
use of fumigant restricted use pesticides 
must demonstrate practical knowledge of 



§4-66-58 

66-59 
 

the pest problems and pest control 
practices associated with performing 
fumigation applications to sites other 
than soil as specified in title 40 CFR, 
Code of Federal Regulations section 
171.103(d)(14) (2023) (40 CFR section 
171.103 can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-
2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-
vol26-sec171-103.pdf); 

(8)  Category 8, public health pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of pests that are 
important vectors of disease, including 
recognizing the pests and signs of the 
pests' presence, habitats, life cycles, 
biology and behavior as it may be 
relevant to problem identification and 
control.  The required knowledge also 
includes how to minimize damage to and 
contamination of areas treated, acute and 
chronic exposure of people and pets, and 
non-target exposures.  Applicators 
[shall] must demonstrate competency in 
nonchemical control methods such as 
sanitation, waste disposal, and drainage.  
Applicators [shall] must also demonstrate 
knowledge of hazards to the environment, 
emergency procedures, application 
methods, disposal, and pertinent laws, 
rules, and regulations;  

(9)  Category 9, regulatory pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of regulated pests, 
applicable laws relating to quarantine 
and other regulation of regulated pests, 
and the potential impact on the 
environment of restricted use pesticides 
used in suppression and eradication 
programs.  Applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate knowledge of factors 
influencing introduction, spread, and 
population dynamics of regulated pests;  

(10) Category 10, demonstration, research, and 



§4-66-58 
 

66-60 
 

instructional pest control applicators 
[shall] must demonstrate practical 
knowledge of the potential problems, 
pests, and population levels reasonable 
expected to occur in a demonstration 
situation and the effects of restricted 
use pesticides on target and non-target 
organisms.  Applicators [shall] must also 
demonstrate competency in each pest 
control category applicable to the 
applicator's demonstration[.  For 
purposes of demonstrating proper use of a 
particular pesticide product, out–of-
state technical
Representatives visiting or working in 
the State for thirty days or less per 
year need not be certified in this 
category if certified in an equivalent 
category by a jurisdiction authorized by 
the EPA to issue certifications.  The 
out-of-state technical representative 
shall present his or her certification 
credentials to the head for an 
equivalency determination prior to 
applying any restricted use pesticides in 
the State]; and  

(11) Category 11, chemigation pest control 
applicators [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of labeling 
requirements specific to chemigation, how 
to choose, operate and maintain 
application equipment, the use of 
metering devices, strategies and 
equipment for backflow prevention, and 
procedures for irrigation system 
assessment for the distribution 
consistency of water, or chemicals, or 
both. 

(b)  Private applicators 
(1)  Category 1, general agricultural pest 

control applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate practical knowledge of 
agricultural commodities grown in the 
State and the specific pests relevant to 



§4-66-60 

66-61 
 

these commodities.  Applicators in this 
category [shall] must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of how to avoid 
contamination of ground and surface 
waters, demonstrate an understanding of 
preharvest intervals, restricted entry 
intervals, and entry restricted periods 
and areas.  The applicator [shall] must 
also demonstrate a practical 
understanding of phytotoxicity, specific 
pesticide toxicity, and residue potential 
when pesticides are applied to animal or 
animal product agricultural commodities, 
and the relative hazards associated with 
using pesticides on animals or places in 
which animals are confined based on 
formulation, application technique, age 
of animal, stress, and extent of 
treatment.  General agricultural pest 
control applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate a complete understanding of 
the Worker Protection Standard, part 170 
of title 40, Code of Federal Regulations 
[(2018)] (2023) (40 CFR part 170 (2023) 
can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-
2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-
vol26-part170.pdf); 

 (2)  Category 2, agricultural pest control 
fumigant applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate practical knowledge of pest 
problems and pest control practices 
associated with soil and non-soil 
fumigant applications.  Applicators in 
this category [shall] must demonstrate 
knowledge of label and labeling 
comprehension, safety measures to 
minimize adverse health effects, 
characteristics of soil and non-soil 
fumigants, selecting appropriate 
application methods and timing, factors 
that influence fumigant activity, worker 
protection measures, personal protective 
equipment and how to use it properly, 



§4-66-58 
 

66-62 
 

restricted entry periods, posting 
requirements, recordkeeping requirements, 
an understanding of how applicators and 
bystanders can be exposed to fumigants.  
Applicators [shall] must also demonstrate 
knowledge of signs and symptoms of 
exposure to fumigants, first aid 
procedures, emergency preparedness, the 
ability to calculate buffer zones, air 
concentrations of fumigant, and 
preparation of site-specific fumigant 
management plans and post-application 
summaries.  Agricultural pest control 
fumigant applicators must demonstrate 
practical knowledge of the pest problems 
and pest control practices associated 
with performing soil fumigant 
applications and fumigation applications 
to sites other than soil as specified in 
title 40 CFR, Code of Federal Regulations 
section 171.105(d) and (e) (2023) (40 CFR 
section 171.105 can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-
2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-
vol26-sec171-105.pdf); and 

(3)  Category 3, agricultural chemigation pest 
control applicators [shall] must 
demonstrate practical knowledge of 
labeling requirements specific to 
chemigation, how to choose, operate and 
maintain application equipment, the use 
of metering devices, strategies and 
equipment for backflow prevention, and 
procedures for irrigation system 
assessment for distribution consistency 
of water, or chemicals, or both.  
Applicators in this category [shall] must 
also demonstrate a complete understanding 
of the Worker Protection Standard, title 
40, part 170, Code of Federal Regulations 
[(2018)](2023) (40 CFR part 170 (2023) 
can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-
2023-title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-



§4-66-60 

66-63 
 

vol26-part170.pdf). 
(c) Any certified commercial pesticide applicator 

or certified private pesticide applicator who fails to 
cooperate with an inspection conducted by the department 
pursuant to section 149A-36, Hawaii Revised Statutes, may 
be denied issuance or renewal of certification, or may 
have certification suspended or revoked.   

(d) Any certified commercial pesticide applicator 
or certified private pesticide applicator who misuses a 
pesticide, is criminally convicted under section 14(b) of 
FIFRA, or receives a final order imposing a civil penalty 
under section 14(a) of FIFRA may be denied issuance or 
renewal of certification, or may have certification 
suspended or revoked.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am and comp             ]  
(Auth:  HRS §149A-33; 40 CFR §§171.5, 171.103, 171.105) 
(Imp:  HRS §149A-33; 40 CFR §§171.5, 171.103, 171.105) 
 

 
§4-66-59  Repealed.  [R 12/16/06]



§4-66-60 
 

66-64 
 

 §4-66-60  Certification procedures; certificate 
renewal.  (a)  The procedures for certifying commercial 
applicators and renewal of commercial applicator 
certifications are as follows: 

(1)  For initial certification of commercial 
applicators and renewal of commercial 
applicator certificates, the applicant [shall] 
must be at least eighteen years of age.  
Application shall be made on forms prescribed 
by the head.  Forms are available at the 
department or on-line doa.hawaii.gov.  The 
completed form shall be submitted to the 
department, with the appropriate fee.  Once 
the form is received by the department, and 
the appropriate fee has been paid, the 
applicant will be scheduled for examination.  
To gain entrance to the testing facility, an 
applicant [shall] must present a valid, 
government-issued photo identification or 
other similarly reliable form of 
identification as proof of identity and age.  
The applicant for certification as a 
commercial applicator shall pass a written 
examination with a score of seventy per cent 
or better.  The core examination shall cover 
the general standards and procedures specified 
in section 4-66-57. Category or subcategory 
examinations shall cover the specific 
standards specified in section 4-66-58(a). 

(2)  To be eligible to take category or subcategory 
examinations, the applicant shall first obtain 
a passing score on the core examination. If 
the applicant fails to pass the core 
examination, that applicant is eligible to be 
re-examined no sooner than fourteen calendar 
days after the date of the failed examination.  
A passing score on the core examination will 
be valid for six months after the date of 
examination.   

(3)  Certification in a category or subcategory 
under section 4-66-58 requires a passing score 
of seventy per cent or better on the category 
or subcategory examination.  If the applicant 
fails to pass any examination, that applicant 



§4-66-60 

66-65 
 

is eligible to be re-examined no sooner than 
fourteen calendar days after the date of the 
failed examination.  A passing score on the 
category or subcategory examination will not 
be valid unless the applicant first obtains a 
passing score on the core examination. A 
certificate may be issued if the applicant 
passes the core examination and any other 
category and subcategory examinations, meets 
all other requirements for certification, and 
complies with all other State and federal 
requirements.  

(4)  For renewal of commercial applicator 
certificates, application for renewal shall be 
made no sooner than ninety days before and no 
later than thirty days after expiration of 
certification.  In order for a certified 
applicator's certification to continue without 
interruption, the certified applicator shall 
be recertified before the expiration of his or 
her current certification.  An applicant for 
recertification shall complete one of the 
following procedures: 
(A) Continuing education.  A certified 

applicator may be found eligible for 
recertification upon successfully 
completing a continuing education program 
by accumulating the prescribed number of 
hours of training approved for each 
category or subcategory in which the 
applicator is certified.  The minimum 
number of training hours required for 
each specific category is listed in the 
table below.  Completion of the training 
must be verified by documentation 
approved by the head.  The training must 
be completed prior to the expiration date 
on the applicator's certificate.  
Training must be pertinent to the 
category or subcategory for which the 
applicant is seeking to renew 
certification and shall be a continuing 
education program of the quality, 
content, and quantity that will ensure 



§4-66-60 
 

66-66 
 

the applicator continues to maintain the 
level of competency required by sections 
4-66-57 and 4-66-58.     
        
       Hours of  

     Training 
Category  Applicator       Required 
1(A) Crop Pest Control . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 
1(B) Animal Pest Control. . . . . . . . . . . 20 
1(C) Soil and Non-soil Fumigant Pest Control .30* 
1(D) Seed treatment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 

2 Forest Pest Control . . . . . . . . . . . 30 
3 Ornamental and Turf Pest Control. . . . . 30 
4 Aerial Pest Control . . . . . . . . . . . 25 
5 Aquatic Pest Control. . . . . . . . . . . 25 
6 Right-of-Way Pest Control . . . . . . . . 30 

7(A) Fumigation Pest Control . . . . . . . . . 25* 
7(B) Termite Pest Control. . . . . . . . . . . 20 
7(C) General Pest Control. . . . . . . . . . . 30 
7(D) Institutional Pest Control. . . . . . . . 30 
7(E) Vault Fumigation Pest Control . . . . . . 25* 
7(F) Specialty Categories. . . . . . . . . . . 20
 8 Public Health Pest Control. . . . . . . . 24 
 9 Regulatory Pest Control . . . . . . . . . 20 
10 Demonstration, Research, 
   & Instructional Pest Control. . . . . . 30 

11 Chemigation Pest Control. . . . . . . . . 5* 
 

*For asterisked items, five hours must be in specific 
subject matter directly related to the category; or 

(B) Written examination.  Pass a written 
examination as provided in section 4-66-
60(a)(1). 

(5)  A certificate may be renewed if the applicant 
has accumulated the required number of credits 
prior to the expiration date on the 
applicator's certificate, or passed the 
written examination, meets all other 
requirements for certification, and complies 
with any other State and federal requirements. 

 (b) The procedures for certifying private 
applicators and renewal of private applicator 
certifications are as follows: 



§4-66-60 

66-67 
 

(1) For initial certification of private 
applicators and renewal of private applicator 
certificates, the applicant [shall] must be at 
least eighteen years of age.  Application 
shall be on forms prescribed by the head.  
Forms are available at the department or on-
line at https://hdoa.hawaii.gov.  The 
completed form shall be submitted to the 
department, with the appropriate fee.  Once 
the form is received by the department, and 
the appropriate fee has been paid, the 
applicant will be scheduled for examination.  
To gain entrance to the testing facility, an 
applicant [shall] must present a valid, 
government-issued photo identification or 
other similarly reliable form of 
identification as proof of identity and age.  
The applicant for certification as a private 
applicator shall pass a written examination 
with a score of seventy per cent or better.  
The examination shall cover the general 
standards specified in section 4-66-57 and the 
specific standards specified in section 4-66-
58(b).   

(2) The applicant shall pass a written examination 
for private agricultural pest control 
applicator with a score of seventy per cent or 
better to be eligible to take agricultural 
fumigation applicator or agricultural 
chemigation pest control applicator 
examinations.  A passing score on the private 
agricultural pest control applicator 
examination will be valid for six months after 
the date of examination.  If the applicant 
fails to pass any examination, that applicant 
is eligible to be re-examined no sooner than 
fourteen calendar days after the date of the 
failed examination.  If the applicant passes 
the examination, meets all of the other 
requirements for certification, and complies 
with any other State and federal requirements, 
a certificate may be issued. 

(3) For renewal of private applicator 
certification, application for renewal shall 

https://hdoa.hawaii.gov/


§4-66-60 
 

66-68 
 

be made no sooner than ninety days before 
expiration of certification.  In order for a 
certified applicator's certification to 
continue without interruption, the certified 
applicator shall be recertified before the 
expiration of his or her current 
certification.  An applicant for 
recertification shall complete one of the 
following procedures: 
(A) Continuing education.  A certified 

applicator may be found eligible for 
recertification upon successfully 
completing a continuing education program 
by accumulating twenty hours of training 
credits.  Applicators certified in 
agricultural fumigation, or agricultural 
chemigation, or both, must accumulate 
five hours of training specific to each 
applicable category.  Completion of 
training must be verified by 
documentation approved by the head.  The 
training must be completed prior to the 
expiration date shown on the applicator's 
certificate and the continuing education 
program shall be of the quality, content, 
and quantity that will ensure the 
applicator continues to maintain the 
level of competency required by sections 
4-66-57 and 4-66-58; or 

(B) Written examination.  Pass a written 
examination as provided in section 4-66-
60(b)(1).  

(4) Certification of private applicator under 
special circumstances.  An applicant for 
private applicator certification who is unable 
to pass a written examination may request that 
the department provide certain testing 
accommodations.  The head shall review 
requests for testing accommodation on a case-
by-case basis.  The applicant may be offered 
the opportunity for testing under special 
circumstances if the head finds the 
accommodation request is reasonable and will 
not result in public safety being compromised. 



§4-66-60 

66-69 
 

All testing accommodations shall cover the 
general standards specified in section 4-66-57 
and the specific standards specified in 
section 4-66-58(b).  A finding by the head 
that the requested accommodation is 
unreasonable or that public safety may be 
compromised by providing the requested 
accommodation shall be in writing.  
Restrictions may be placed on a private 
applicator who successfully passes 
certification testing under special 
circumstances as deemed necessary by the head 
for the protection of the public and 
environment.  The head shall be solely 
responsible for determining what constitutes 
successful passage of certification testing 
under special circumstances.  Renewal of 
certificates issued under this section can be 
granted only through the procedures described 
in this paragraph. 

 Any applicant aggrieved by a determination of 
the head relative to certification of private 
applicator under special circumstances may 
request a hearing as provided in section 149A-
34, Hawaii Revised Statutes. 

(c) Procedures to obtain approval of certification 
credits for continuing education training classes are as 
follows:   

(1) A training class sponsor or provider shall 
submit a written application to the head, 
requesting approval of certification credits 
for each training class no less than thirty 
calendar days prior to the scheduled date of 
each class.  A fee for expedited approval of 
certification credits may be assessed for 
approval requests received less than thirty 
calendar days prior to the scheduled date of 
each class.  Appropriate subject matter for 
training classes is set forth in sections 4-
66-57 and 4-66-58.     

(2) The written application shall include the name 
and contact information of the sponsor or 
provider, instructor credentials, a 
substantive class description or outline of 



§4-66-60 
 

66-70 
 

sufficient detail so evaluation of the course 
content can be made, a sample of any materials 
to be provided to the participants, who may 
attend the class, if any fee will be charged, 
class evaluation method, and the dates, times, 
and location of the class.  The head shall 
approve or deny credits within ten business 
days following receipt of the written 
application for certification credit. 

(3) Approval of training class credit shall be 
valid for two years, after which time a new 
written application requesting approval of 
certification credit shall be submitted.     

(4) The number of credits issued for a training 
session shall be based on an evaluation of 
course content, instructor qualifications, and 
the duration of the course by the head.  The 
number of credits approved by the head may be 
adjusted if department monitoring of the 
course demonstrates that content and duration 
either exceeds or fails to meet course 
description as approved.   

(5) Credits shall be awarded to those applicators 
whose attendance at the session is documented. 
The training class sponsor or provider shall 
maintain a record of attendance at the 
approved sessions.   

(6) The record shall show the name, certification 
number, arrival and departure time for each 
attendee desiring credits toward certification 
renewal.  The training class sponsor or 
provider shall forward the record of 
attendance to the head within thirty calendar 
days following the course.  Failure to timely 
forward the training class attendance record 
to the head may result in denial of future 
training class or certification credit. 

(7) Requests to obtain training credit towards 
certification renewal from sources other than 
in-person training class attendance may be 
approved on a case-by-case basis at the sole 
discretion of the head. 

 (d) All certifications and renewals issued under 
this section shall be valid for five years following date 



§4-66-60 

66-71 
 

of issuance, unless revoked.  The date of issuance is the 
date the examination was passed.  Application for renewal 
shall be on forms prescribed by the head.  Forms are 
available at the department or on-line at 
https://hdoa.hawaii.gov.    
 (e) Changes to Certificates and Replacement
Certificates.  A certification is valid only for the 
name, category, address, and employer, if applicable, 
shown on the certificate or recorded on the application 
for certification or certification renewal.  Any changes 
to the certificate must be reported to the head by the 
certificate holder within thirty calendar days of any 
change.  Forms to update the certificate holder's 
information shall be prescribed by the head.  Forms are 
available at the department or on-line at 
https://hdoa.hawaii.gov.  Failure to notify the head 
within thirty days of any change in name, applicator 
category, address, or employer may result in 
certification revocation, or may subject the certificate 
holder to additional penalties as provided by law.  
Applicators may request a replacement certificate to 
update information, to replace lost certificates, and to 
consolidate certifications on different certificates.  
The replacement certificate with appropriate changes 
shall be issued after payment of appropriate fees.  A 
replacement certificate will expire on the same date as 
the original certification.  If the certificate holder 
requests consolidation of certificates onto a single 
certificate, then those certifications will expire on the 
earliest certificate's expiration date. 
 (f) Should the certification of any commercial 
applicator or private applicator be suspended or revoked, 
the certified applicator shall participate in a remedial 
education program prior to applying for reinstatement of 
certification.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am 
and comp 08/23/19; am and comp                 ]  (Auth:  
HRS §149A-33; 40 CFR §§171.105, 171.107) (Imp:  HRS 
§149A-33; 40 CFR §§171.105, 171.107) 
 
 
 §4-66-61 Conditions on the use of restricted use 
pesticides by non-certified applicator.  A person may 
apply a restricted use pesticide, provided that: 

(1)  The person is under the direct supervision of 

https://hdoa.hawaii.gov/
https://hdoa.hawaii.gov/


§4-66-61 
 

66-72 
 

an applicator certified in each category 
applicable to the restricted use pesticide 
being used. 

(2)  The certified applicator [shall] must give the 
non-certified applicator use-specific written 
instructions in a manner the non-certified 
applicator can understand.  The use-specific 
instructions [shall] must include labeling 
directions, precautions, and requirements 
applicable to the site, method of application, 
and pesticide used. The use-specific 
instructions must also include how the 
characteristics of the use site (e.g., surface 
and ground water, endangered species, local 
population and the conditions of application 
(e.g., equipment, method of application, 
formulation) might increase or decrease the 
risk of adverse effects.  The certified 
applicator must ensure that the non-certified 
applicator has been instructed within the last 
twelve months in the safe operation of any 
equipment the non-certified applicator will 
use for mixing, loading, transferring, or 
applying pesticides.  The certified applicator 
[shall] must ensure that before each day of 
use equipment used for mixing, loading, 
transferring, or applying pesticides is in 
proper operating condition as intended by the 
manufacturer and can [reasonably] be used 
without risk of reasonably foreseeable adverse 
effects to [by] the non-certified applicator, 
other persons, or the environment.  The 
certified applicator [shall] must ensure that 
the non-certified applicator has access to the 
applicable product labeling at all times 
during use, and if the labeling requires that 
personal protective equipment be worn, the 
certified applicator [shall] must ensure that 
the non-certified applicator has the 
appropriate clean personal protective 
equipment available and the equipment is used 
correctly for its intended purpose.  The 
certified applicator [shall] must ensure that 



§4-66-61 

66-73 
 

the means to immediately
communicate with the certified applicator is 
available to each non-certified applicator.  
The certified applicator must be physically 
present at the site of the use being 
supervised when required by the product 
labeling. 

(3)  The certified applicator shall be responsible 
for all violations of chapter 149A, Hawaii 
Revised Statutes and these rules.  

(4)  The non-certified applicator [shall] must 
[meet the minimum age requirement to use or 
apply restricted use pesticides under the 
supervision of a certified applicator] be at 
least eighteen years of age.  The non-
certified applicator [shall] must also meet 
any other non-certified applicator 
[qualification] requirements specified in 
[title 40, [part 171,] Code of Federal 
Regulations [(2018)] 40 CFR section 171.201 
(2023) (40 CFR section 171.201 (2023) can be 
found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-
title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-
sec171-201.pdf).   

(5) The label of the pesticide being used must not 
prohibit its use by a non-certified applicator 
under the direct supervision of a certified 
applicator. 

(6) Failure to abide by chapter 149A, Hawaii 
Revised Statutes and these rules may result in 
certification revocation, or subject the 
certification holder to additional penalties 
as provided by law.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 
12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; am and    
comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §149A-33; 
40 CFR §171.201) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33; 40 CFR 
§171.201) 

 
 

 §4-66-62  Certified pesticide applicator 
recordkeeping.  (a)  Certified pesticide applicators 
[shall] must keep records of all restricted use pesticide 
applications at the applicator's principal place of 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Underline



§4-66-62 
 

66-74 
 

business. 
(b) These records must be kept for a period of two 

years and [shall] must be made available for inspection 
and copying by the head during reasonable working hours. 

(c) Recordkeeping information [shall] must 
include: 

(1)  Brand or common name of pesticide product 
applied; 

(2)  EPA registration number; 
(3)  Type of formulation; 
(4)  Per cent active ingredient; 
(5)  Scientific or common name of target pest; 
(6) Dilution rate; 
(7)  Total amount of pesticide used;  
(8)  Total area covered; 
(9)  Time and date of application; 
(10) Address or location of treated site; 
(11)  Name of certified applicator and his or her 

certification number; 
(12)  Crop, commodity, stored product or other site; 
(13) Restricted entry interval and whether posting 

and oral notification are required; [and] 
(14) Records required under 40 CFRode of Federal 

Regulations section 171.201(e) (2023); and 
(15) Any other information the head deems 

necessary. 
40 CFR section 171.201 (2023) can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-
title40-vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-sec171-
201.pdf 
(d) Commercial applicators that apply any pesticide 

in agricultural operations shall furnish a written record 
containing the following information to the agricultural 
employer before any pesticide is applied: 

(1)  The specific location and description of the 
treated area; 

(2)  Time and date of application; 
(3) Product name, EPA registration number, and 

active ingredient(s); 
(4) Restricted entry interval; 
(5) Whether posting and oral notification are 

required; and 
(6) Any other product-specific requirements on the 

product labeling concerning protection of 

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Underline



§4-66-62 

66-75 
 

workers or other persons during or after 
application. 

 (e) Commercial applicators [shall] must retain a 
copy of the written record furnished to the agricultural 
employer in compliance with subsection (d).  These 
records must be kept for a period of two years and 
[shall] must be made available for inspection and copying 
by the head during reasonable working hours. 
 (f) Beginning January 1, 2019, every certified 
restricted use pesticide applicator shall submit to 
the department, for departmental use, an annual report 
of all use of restricted use pesticides.  The report 
shall be submitted to the department no later than 
thirty days following the end of each calendar year on 
a form prescribed by the head.  The report shall 
include: 

(1) Name of certified applicator and his or her 
certification number; 

(2) EPA registration number of each 
restricted use pesticide used;

(3)  Commercial product name of each restricted use 
pesticide used; 

(4)  Active ingredient(s) of each restricted use 
pesticide used; 

(5) The total quantities for each restricted use 
pesticide used; 

(6) The total area treated for each restricted use 
pesticide used; 

(7) The date on which the restricted use pesticide 
application occurred; and 

(8) A general description of the geographic 
location, including, at a minimum the tax map 
key number, at which the restricted use 
pesticides were used.  

(g) The department shall produce a summary from 
the information collected under subsection (f), for 
public disclosure, by county that includes: 

(1) The total quantities used, by EPA 
registration number, commercial product 
names, and active ingredients for each 
restricted use pesticide used; and 

(2) The total amount of area in the county in 
which the restricted use application occurred. 

 (h) Certified pesticide applicators [shall] must 



§4-66-63.1 
 

66-76 
 

create or verify the existence of records documenting 
that each non-certified applicator who mixes, loads, 
transfers, or applies restricted use pesticides has the 
qualifications required under section 4-66-61(4). The 
records must include the information required under 40 
CFRCode of Federal Regulations section 171.201(e) (2022) 
(40 CFR section 171.201 can be found at 
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2023-title40-
vol26/pdf/CFR-2023-title40-vol26-sec171-201.pdf). 
 (i) [Failure] Falsification of any records 
required to be maintained by certified pesticide 
applicators or any other failure to comply with the 
recordkeeping requirements may result in certification 
revocation and subject the certified pesticide applicator 
to additional penalties as provided by law.  [Eff 
7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 08/23/19; am 
and comp               ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-33, 149A-26; 
40 CFR §171.201) (Imp: HRS §§149A-33, 149A-26, 149A-27; 7 
CFR §110, 40 CFR §171.201) 
 
 
 §4-66-63 Repealed.  [R 12/16/06] 
 
 
 §4-66-63.1  Annual Use Permit.  (a)  A pesticide may 
be designated by the board as requiring an annual use 
permit for purchase if the department, after an 
evaluation of pesticide uses in accordance with section 
4-66-32.1, determines that existing controls over the 
pesticide may be inadequate to prevent potential 
unreasonable adverse effects on humans or the environment 
and that tracking and controlling use is appropriate.   
 (b) An annual use permit is required for the 
purchase and use of picloram.  Additional pesticides may 
be designated as requiring an annual use permit as 
provided in section 4-66-63.1(a).  The board, upon 
designation of any additional pesticide product as 
requiring an annual use permit, shall maintain a list of 
such pesticide products at the department Office of the 
Chairperson.  The list of pesticide products that require 
an annual use permit shall also be posted on the 
department's website.   
 (c) Application for an annual use permit shall be 
on forms prescribed by the head, and shall include the 



§4-66-63.1 

66-77 
 

applicant's name and address, name of applicator, acreage 
amount to be treated, location, and other information as 
the head may require.  Forms are available at the 
department or on-line at https://hdoa.hawaii.gov.  An 
application and permit may be amended during the permit 
period to add acreage, other locations, additional 
quantity of pesticide or other changes, as appropriate.    
 (d) In determining whether to issue an annual use 
permit, the potential use described in an application 
will be reviewed for compliance with the pesticide's 
label directions.  The head shall determine the quantity 
of pesticide to be authorized for each permit and other 
permit conditions necessary to prevent unreasonable 
adverse effects to humans or the environment.  
 (e) Failure to comply with the terms or conditions 
of any annual use permit may result in permit revocation 
and subject the permittee to additional penalties as 
provided by law.  [Eff and comp 12/16/06; am and comp    
8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §149A-19) 
(Imp:  HRS §149A-32.5) 
 
 
 §4-66-64 Conditions and limitations on aerial 
application of restricted use pesticides.  (a)  No person 
shall apply a restricted use pesticide by manned or 
unmanned aircraft except by special permit issued by the 
head and under the following conditions and limitations: 

(1) Application for a special permit to apply 
restricted use pesticides by aerial application 
shall be made on forms prescribed by the head.  
Forms are available at the department or on-line 
at https://hdoa.hawaii.gov; 

(2)  The special permit application shall include 
date, name, address and certification number 
of the applicator, purpose of aerial 
treatment, restricted use pesticide 
formulation, dosage, method of aerial 
treatment, the proposed number of treatments 
to be made, and a sketch or map that 
indicates general wind directions, proposed 
site or sites to be treated, homes, roadways, 
waterways, and crop plantings in the vicinity; 

(3)  The head may refuse to issue a special permit 
for aerial application of restricted use 

https://hdoa.hawaii.gov/
https://hdoa.hawaii.gov/


§4-66-64 
 

66-78 
 

pesticides if it is determined that the 
proposed aerial treatment may cause 
unreasonable adverse effects to humans or the 
environment or will create a hazard.  All 
refusals shall be in writing and the reasons 
for refusal stated; 

(4) A special permit for aerial application of 
restricted use pesticides shall specify the 
time period for which the special permit is 
valid.  The head may specify and limit a 
special permit for aerial application of 
restricted use pesticides to cover a single, 
multiple, or continual treatments when 
conditions are not expected to change or vary 
during subsequent treatments that are 
conducted in the same designated area or 
areas; 

(5) Any special permit for aerial application of 
restricted use pesticides may be canceled or 
revoked by the head before its stated 
expiration date for reasonable cause.  Such 
cancellation or revocation shall be in writing 
and reasons for cancellation or revocation 
stated; 

(6)  The head shall be notified no less than 
twenty-four hours in advance of the aerial 
treatment unless another time period is 
specified as a permit condition; and 

(7)  The issuance of a special permit for aerial 
application of a restricted use pesticide 
shall not relieve the permittee from the 
penalty provisions of the Act or any liability 
for any damage or contamination of crops or 
plants, animals, humans, and the environment 
resulting from the aerial treatment or 
contamination of crops or plants, animals, 
humans, and the environment resulting from the 
aerial application of restricted use 
pesticides. 

 (b)  The following provisions shall apply to the 
operating conditions of manned or unmanned aircraft and 
equipment used for aerial application of restricted use 
pesticides:  

(1) Spray equipment on manned or unmanned aircraft 



§4-66-64 

66-79 
 

shall be leakproof.   Spray nozzles shall be 
equipped with a device to prevent dribble when 
spray is turned off; 

(2) All aerial pesticide dispersal equipment shall 
be inspected and maintained in good working 
order according to the manufacturer's 
instructions; and  

(3) Manned or unmanned aircraft used to apply 
restricted use pesticides, and manned or 
unmanned aircraft operators, shall comply with 
all Federal Aviation Administration 
Regulations.  

 (c) The head may add further permit conditions as 
deemed necessary for the protection of the public, or 
environment, or both.   

(d) Failure to comply with the terms or conditions 
of any special permit for aerial application of 
restricted use pesticides may subject the permittee, or 
person supervising the aerial application, or both, to 
additional penalties as provided by law.  [Eff 7/13/81; 
am and comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ] (Auth:  HRS §149A-33) (Imp:  HRS §149A-
33) 

 
 

 §4-66-64.1  Conditions and limitations on pesticide 
application by means other than aerial treatment.  (a) No 
person shall apply a restricted use or nonrestricted use 
pesticide except under the following conditions and 
limitations: 

(1) All pesticide applications shall be made in 
accordance with the product label; 

(2)  Spray equipment nozzles shall be equipped with 
a device to prevent leakage when spray is 
turned off; 

(3) Self-propelled power rigs used for inter-row 
or broad-cast applications shall be equipped 
with a pressure control device and a pressure 
gauge; 

(4) Reasonable methods necessary to minimize the 
risk of off-target pesticide product movement 
shall be utilized; and 

(5) Power rigs, mist blowers, and other equipment 
used to disperse any pesticide product shall 



§4-66-66 
 

66-80 
 

be inspected and maintained in good working 
order according to the manufacturer's 
instructions. [Eff and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth: HRS §149A-33) (Imp: 
HRS §149A-33) 

 
 
 
 
 §4-66-64.2 Conditions and limitations on restricted 
use pesticide application within buffer zones.  (a)  
Beginning January 1, 2019, no person shall apply a 
restricted use pesticide on or within one hundred feet of a 
school property during normal school hours. 
 (b)  This section shall not apply to whole structure 
fumigation. 
 (c) If this section is determined to conflict with 
any pesticide application information listed on the 
pesticide label, the more restrictive provision shall 
apply. 
 (d) Buffer zones may be determined by tax map key 
number, or if tax map key number is not an appropriate 
means of establishing the buffer zone, by property 
boundaries such as fence lines, landscaping, or other 
method that is reasonably capable of determining the 
school's property. 

(e) School locations may be identified by readily 
available public records. 

(f) The certified applicator shall be responsible 
for all violations of chapter 149A, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes and this rule.   
 
 As used in this section: 
 "Buffer zone" means an area in which no restricted 
use pesticides may be applied. 
 "Normal school hours" means Monday through Friday 
from 7:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m., excluding days when 
classes are not in session. 
 "School" means any public or private preschool, 
kindergarten, elementary, intermediate, middle, 
secondary, or high school.  [Eff and comp 8/23/19; comp 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§149A-33, 149A-28) (Imp: 
HRS §149A-28) 
 



§4-66-66 

66-81 
 

 
 §4-66-65 Repealed.  [R 12/16/06] 
 
 
 §4-66-66  Fees.  (a)  The head shall set forth and 
collect fees for licensing of restricted use and 
nonrestricted use pesticides; permitting of restricted 
use pesticide dealers and dealer representatives; 
nonchemical pest control devices submitted for approval; 
certification of applicators; and, document copying as 
follows: 

(1)  A fee of $930 shall be assessed for each 
product licensed in the State for each three-
year licensing period.  A licensee who desires 
to continue to have the license in effect 
shall submit an application for renewal and 
$930 for each pesticide product license to be 
renewed.  A one-time fee of $330 shall be 
assessed for each nonchemical pest control 
device submitted for approval. 

(2)  A fee of $500 shall be assessed annually for 
each principal sales outlet permit and a fee 
of $200 for each branch sales outlet of 
restricted use pesticide dealers. 

(3)  A fee of $50 shall be assessed for each 
examination taken for certification or renewal 
of certification. 

(4) A fee of $50 will be assessed for the issuance 
of a replacement applicator certificate or 
replacement of dealer representative permit. 

(5) A fee of $100 shall be assessed for the 
issuance of an initial pesticide applicator 
certificate or initial restricted use 
pesticide dealer representative permit, which 
shall be valid for five years. 

(6)  A fee of $100 shall be assessed for renewal of 
a pesticide applicator certificate or renewal 
of restricted use pesticide dealer 
representative permit, which shall be valid 
for five years. 

(7)  A fee of $50 shall be assessed for each 
examination taken for pesticide dealer 
representative permit. 

(8)  A fee of $.25 per page shall be assessed to 



§4-66-66 
 

66-82 
 

copy documents in either paper or electronic 
format.    

(9)  A fee of up to $50 per hour may be assessed 
for educational services, testing, or training 
provided by the department staff, or 
independent contractors hired by the 
department to provide such services. 

(10) A fee of up to $100 may be assessed for 
expedited approval of sponsor or provider 
offered continuing education training classes. 

 (b) Fees shall be waived, upon approval of the 
head, for personnel of state agencies, the University of 
Hawaii, and other government agencies, who apply 
restricted use pesticides for quarantine purposes, public 
health and forestry pest control, utility and roadway 
maintenance, research, and demonstration.  The head may 
waive or reduce fees based upon demonstrated financial 
hardship.  [Eff 7/13/81; am and comp 12/16/06; am and 
comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  (Auth:  HRS §149A-
33) (Imp:  HRS §149A-33) 
 
 
 §4-66-66.1  Enforcement action and penalty 
assessment schedule; collection of penalties.  (a)  In 
proposing enforcement actions, the department may use the 
“Appendix A, enforcement action and penalty assessment 
schedule” dated_______________, which is appended at the 
end of this chapter and made a part of this section by 
reference.  In selecting an appropriate penalty, the 
department shall consider the factors in section 149A-41, 
Hawaii Revised Statutes. 

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), the department 
is not limited to the sanctions shown in the enforcement 
action and penalty assessment schedule.  In its 
discretion, the department may deny, cancel, suspend, or 
revoke a permit, license or certificate, as provided in 
sections 149A-14, 149A-18 and 149A-34, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, separately or in conjunction with the 
enforcement action.  The department may assess an 
appropriate penalty as provided in the enforcement action 
and penalty assessment schedule and consistent with 
sections 141-7 and 149A-41, Hawaii Revised Statutes. 
 (c) For private applicators and other persons 
referred to in section 149A-41(b)(2), Hawaii Revised 



§4-66-67 

66-83 
 

Statutes, the penalty assessment shall apply after the 
written warning or citation requirement of section 149A-
41(b)(2) has been satisfied.   

(d) In case of inability to collect the 
administrative penalty or failure to pay all or any 
portion of the administrative penalty, the head may refer 
the matter to the department of the attorney general, who 
shall recover the amount by action in the appropriate 
court.  [Eff 7/13/81; comp 12/16/06; am and comp 8/23/19; 
am and comp                   ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§149A-20, 149A-33, 149A-41) (Imp:  HRS §§149A-20, 149A-
41) 
 
 
 §4-66-67 Severability.  If any section of this 
chapter is declared unconstitutional, or the 
applicability thereof to any person or circumstance is 
held invalid, the constitutionality of the remainder of 
this chapter and applicability thereof to other persons 
and circumstances shall not be affected.  [Eff 7/13/81; 
comp 12/16/06; comp 8/23/19; comp                ]  
(Auth:  HRS §149A-52) (Imp:  HRS §149A-52) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



§4-66-67 
 

66-84 
 

 



 

66-85 
 

 Amendments to and compilation of chapter 4-66, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules, on the Summary Page dated 
June 25, 2019, were adopted on June 25, 2019, following 
public hearings held on November 1, 2018, November 2, 
2018, November 5, 2018, November 7, 2018, and November 8, 
2018, after public notice was given in the Honolulu Star 
Advertiser, the Garden Island, the Maui News, West Hawaii 
Today, and the Hawaii Tribune Herald on October 1, 2018.  
 
 They shall take effect ten days after filing with 
the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 
 
  
 

                                  
 SHARON HURD 
 Chairperson  
 Board of Agriculture 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 JOSH GREEN, M.D. 
 Governor 
 State of Hawaii 
 
 
 Dated: ________________________ 
  

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
                             
DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL 
 
 
 
     _______________________________ 
                  Filed 
 



IV. Administrative Matters

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy
Activities and Programs in accordance with the
Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii
Revised Statutes (HRS)

1. Update on the Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most
current meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law
Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic
Development) – Mandates that DBEDT establish a task
force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s
general economic competitiveness and business
climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax
burdens – No Attachment

2. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications
Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach –
No Attachment

3. Presentations to Industry Associations – No Attachment
4. Staff’s Small Business Outreach – No Attachment



V. Legislative Matters

A. Update on the following:

1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the
Small Business Regulatory Review Board – Amends
the quorum requirements to do business and validate
acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board

2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to
Government Procedures – Establishes the Simplifying
Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development
(SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken,
challenges encountered, and legislative measures
necessary to facilitate, expediate, and coordinate state
and intergovernmental development permit processes;
and appropriates funds









CONFERENCE COMMITTEE REP. NO.

Honolulu, Hawaii

APR 2 4 2025
RE: S.B. No. 1343

S.D. 1
H. D. 2
C. D. 1

Honorable Ronald D. Kouchi
President of the Senate
Thirty-Third State Legislature
Regular Session of 2025
State of Hawaii

Honorable Nadine K. Nakamura
Speaker, House of Representatives
Thirty-Third State Legislature
Regular Session of 2025
State of Hawaii

Sir and Madam:

Your Committee on Conference on the disagreeing vote of the 
Senate to the amendments proposed by the House of Representatives in 
S.B. No. 1343, S.D. 1, H.D. 2, entitled:

"A BILL FOR AN ACT RELATING TO THE SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY 
REVIEW BOARD,"

having met, and after full and free discussion, has agreed to 
recommend and does recommend to the respective Houses the final 
passage of this bill in an amended form.

The purpose of this measure is to amend the quorum requirements 
to do business and validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory 
Review Board.

Your Committee on Conference finds that that the existing 
strict quorum requirements for the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board, that do not account for vacant seats renders it difficult for 
the Board to achieve quorum, hindering its ability to conduct 
business. Therefore, this measure provides the Small Business 
Regulatory Review Board with greater flexibility to conduct board 
meetings by decreasing the number of members required for quorum.

2025-2883 SCCR SMA.docx

IhIH IIIIKIII111111111II III



CONFERENCE COMMITTEE REP. NO. 
Page 2

Your Committee on Conference has amended this measure by:

(1) Making it effective upon its approval; and

(2) Making technical, nonsubstantive amendments for the 
purposes of clarity and consistency.

As affirmed by the record of votes of the managers of your 
Committee on Conference that is attached to this report, your 
Committee on Conference is in accord with the intent and purpose of 
S.B. No. 1343, S.D. 1, H.D. 2, as amended herein, and recommends 
that it pass Final Reading in the form attached hereto as S.B. 
No. 1343, S.D. 1, H.D. 2, C.D. 1.

Respectfully submitted on behalf 
of the managers:

ON THE PART OF THE HOUSE

Co-Chair

2025-2883 SCCR SMA.docx

iiiiiintii [ra fliiiiiiiiii



Hawai‘i State Legislature

Record of Votes of a 
Conference Committee

Distribatton: Original Yellow Pink Goldenrod
File with Conference Committee Report House Clerk's Office Senate Clerk's Office Drafting Agency

Bill / Concurrent Resolution No.:
SB P43, SD 1, HD 2

Date/Time: / /

OTrhe recommendation of the House and Senate managers is to pass with amendments (CD).

□ The Committee is reconsidering its previous decision.

□ The recommendation of the Senate Manager(s) is to AGREE 
to the House amendments made to the Senate Measure

O The recommendation of the House Manager(s) is to AGREE 
to the Senate amendments made to the House Measure.

Senate Managers A WR N E House Managers A WR N E

DECOITE, Lynn, Chr. ILAGAN, Greggor, Co-Chr.

FUKUNAGA, Carol, Co-Chr. POEPOE, Mahina, Co-Chr.

CHANG, Stanley, Co-Chr. MATSUMOTO, Lauren

AWA, Brenton

TOTAL 0 o \ TOTAL 3 0 O o
A = Aye WR = Aye with Reservations N = Nay E = Excused

Senate Recommendation is:
»0-Adopted Q Not Adopted

House Recommendation is:
Adopted O Not Adopted

Senate Lead Chair's or Designee's Signature: ^^^^^^^^^Oim^OT^^signee's Signature:



THE SENATE
THIRTY-THIRD LEGISLATURE, 2025
STATE OF HAWAII

S.B. NO. H.D. 2
C.D. 1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

A BILL FORAN ACT
RELATING TO THE SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF HAWAII:

SECTION 1. Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes, is 

amended by amending subsection (d) to read as follows:

" (d) A majority of all the members [to-whi-eh--t-he board is 

entitled] appointed or confirmed to serve on the board, but not 

less than five, shall constitute a quorum to do business, and 

the concurrence of a majority of all the members [to which■the 

board is entitled] appointed or confirmed to serve on the board, 

but not less than five, shall be necessary to make any action of 

the board valid."

SECTION 2. Statutory material to be repealed is bracketed 

and stricken. New statutory material is underscored.

SECTION 3. This Act shall take effect upon its approval.

2025-2883 SB1343 CDl SMA.docx

IIIHII4IIIII IHHIIIBH



S.B. NO. H.D. 2
C.D. 1

Report Title:
SBRRB; Small Business; Quorum Requirements

Description:
TXmends the quorum requirements to do business and validate acts 
of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board. (CDl)

The summary description of legislation appearing on this page is for informational purposes only and is 
not legislation or evidence of legislative intent.

2025-2883 SB1343 CDl SMA.docx

ll!IKIII IIIIi!l II limilllll


















	1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board
	2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to Government Procedures – Establishes the Simplifying Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development (SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken, challenges encountered, and legislative measures necessary to f...
	ADP687A.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS)
	1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens
	2. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach
	3. Presentations to Industry Associations
	4. Staff’s Small Business Outreach
	A. Update, Discussion and Action on the following: 
	1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board
	2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to Government Procedures – Establishes the Simplifying Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development (SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken, challenges encountered, and legislative measures necessary to facilitate, expediate, and coordinate state and intergovernmental development permit processes; and appropriates funds


	ADPC14B.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS)
	1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens
	2. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach
	3. Presentations to Industry Associations
	4. Staff’s Small Business Outreach
	A. Update, Discussion and Action on the following: 
	1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board
	2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to Government Procedures – Establishes the Simplifying Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development (SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken, challenges encountered, and legislative measures necessary to facilitate, expediate, and coordinate state and intergovernmental development permit processes; and appropriates funds


	ADPD4CB.tmp
	1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board
	2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to Government Procedures – Establishes the Simplifying Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development (SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken, challenges encountered, and legislative measures necessary to f...

	ADPDF19.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS)
	1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens
	2. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach
	3. Presentations to Industry Associations
	4. Staff’s Small Business Outreach
	A. Update, Discussion and Action on the following: 
	1. Senate Bill 1343 SD1 HD2 CD1 - Relating to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board – Amends the quorum requirements to do business and validate acts of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board
	2. House Bill 1406 HD1 SD2 CD1 - Relating to Government Procedures – Establishes the Simplifying Permitting for Enhanced Economic Development (SPEED) Task Force to identify actions taken, challenges encountered, and legislative measures necessary to facilitate, expediate, and coordinate state and intergovernmental development permit processes; and appropriates funds


	HDOA 4-69 Pesticides SBIS PPH.pdf
	If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, please provide a reasonable determination of the following:
	* * *


	Date: 4/10/2025
	Department or Agency: State of Hawaiʻi Dept. of Agriculture, Pesticides Branch
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Title 4, Subtitle 6, Chapter 66
	Chapter Name: Pesticides
	Contact PersonTitle: Greg Takeshima, Pesticides Program Manager
	Email: greg.y.takeshima@hawaii.gov
	Phone: 808-973-9404
	pursuant to HRS 927: Yes
	If Yes provide details: The proposed amendments to HAR chapter 4-66 may be viewed in person at 1428 South King Street, Honolulu, HI 96814 or online at: https://hdoa.hawaii.gov/blog/main/proposed-administrative-rules/.   
	New: Off
	Repeal: Off
	Amendment: On
	Compilation: Off
	II Will the proposed rules affect small business: Yes_2
	statute or ordinance: No_3
	IV Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking HRS 201M2a: No_4
	Text 1: Administrative rule revisions may affect general use pesticide applicators, certified restricted use pesticide applicators, dealers and distributors of both general use pesticides and restricted use pesticides.  Maximum penalty increases will only affect repeat offenders of Hawaiʻi pesticides laws.
	Text 2: $5,000 to $10,000 for licensee or registrant of pesticide products, certified commercial pesticide applicators, licensee or permittee authorized to sell or distribute RUPs; $1,000 to $5,000 for certified private pesticide applicators.
	Text 2a: $1,000 and $5,000 (20+ years since last increase).
	Text 2b: $5,000 and $10,000 (400% and 100%, respectively).
	Text 3: Funds will be deposited into the pesticide use revolving fund as required by HRS section 149A-13.5.  These funds must be expended in the manner established by statute, which includes using the funds to benefit pesticide users, agricultural workers, and the structural pest control industry; to provide additional training for department personnel and certified applicators; compliance assistance; and environmental monitoring.  Any funds in excess of $1,000,000 remaining at the end of the fiscal year lapse to the State general fund pursuant to HRS section 149A-13.5(e).  The department seeks to increase the amount by 10% to provide for increased services.
	Text 2c: Fines for violations of Hawaiʻi Revised Statutes (“HRS”) chapter 149A have not increased for 20+ years for pesticide applicators. 
	Text 2d: Based on the passage of Act 220 by the Hawaiʻi State Legislature.
	Text 4: A clause in the administrative rules allows for the administrative head to waive or reduce fees based on demonstrated hardship.
	Text 5: Fines for violations of HRS section 149A have not increased for 23 years for commercial pesticide applicators and nearly 50 years for private pesticide applicators.  The increase in maximum penalty amounts was adopted to discourage previously cited violators from continuing to violate pesticides laws.  A decrease in violations will result in a lower impact of harm to the environment and human health.
	Text 6: The administrative head's ability to reduce or waive fees based on hardship is a way to meet the needs of small businesses, which include dealers and distributors of pesticides, and pesticide applicators.  
	Text 7: Administrative rule revisions were presented before the Advisory Committee on Pesticides on October 2, 2024 and before the Board of Agriculture on January 28, 2025.
	Text 7a: No recommendations were incorporated in the proposed administrative rule revisions, as Act 220 had already been passed by the Hawaiʻi State Legislature.
	Text 8: Proposed rule amendments are not more stringent.
	Text 8b: Not applicable.
	Text 8a: Not applicable.
	Text 8c: Not applicable.
	Text 8d: Not applicable.
	Text 8e: Not applicable.


